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BADIL takes a rights-based approach to the Palestinian refugee
issue through research, advocacy, and support of community
participation in the search for durable solutions.

BADIL was established in 1998 to support the development of
a popular refugee lobby for Palestinian refugee and internally
displaced rights and is registered as a non-profit organization
with the Palestinian Authority.

*Acknowledgments*

Badil would like to thank Elna Sondergaard, Jaime Abedrabbo,
Sofiah from the Palestine Solidarity Campaign — Scotland, and
Blaire Kuntz for the help they provided in preparing this Nakba
Special Issue of Al-Majdal.

Special thanks go to the Palestinian refugees whose stories are
featured here, and the people who took the time to interview and
write these stories.

Information about the destroyed Palestinian towns and villages
that appears here is adapted from Walid Khalidi (ed.), All that
Remains, Washington DC: Institute for Palestine Studies, 1992;
and ttp:/www.palestineremembered.con

Front Cover Photo: Remains of a Palestinian home in Lifta, 2007
(©Anne Paq)
Back Cover Photo: Kufr Birim, 2005 (©Zaha Hassan)

Production and Printing: al-Ayyam

BADIL welcomes comments, criticism, and suggestions for
al-Majdal. Please send all correspondence to the editor at
legall@badil.ord.

The views expressed by independent writers in this publication do
not necessarily reflect the views of BADIL Resource Center.

al-Majdal is a quarterly magazine of
BADIL Resource Center that aims to raise
public awareness and support for a just solution
to Palestinian residency and refugee issues.

[Electronic copies are available online at]
www.badil.org/al-Majdal/al-Madjal.htm

Annual Subscription: 25€ (4 issues)

Published by
BADIL Resource Resource Center for
Palestinian Residency & Refugee Rights
Interim Head of Board: Afif Ghatatche

PO Box 728
Bethlehem, Palestine
Tel/Fax: 972-2-274-7346
Email:
Web:

ISSN 1726-7277

Editor
Karine Mac Allister

Editorial Team
Hazem Jamjoum, Mohammad Jaradat,
Ingrid Jaradat Gassner

Layout & Design
Wael al-Azzeh, al-Ayyam
Atallah Salem

Advisory Board
Abdelfattah Abu Srour (Palestine)
Jalal Al Husseini (Switzerland)
Arjan El Fassed (Netherlands)
Randa Farah (Canada)
Usama Halabi (Palestine)
Jeff Handmaker (Netherlands)
Zaha Hassan (United States)
Salem Hawash (Palestine)
Isabelle Humphries (Palestine)
Scott Leckie (Australia)
Terry Rempel (Canada)
Shahira Samy (Egypt)
Joseph Schechla (Egypt)


http://www.badil.org/al-Majdal/al-Madjal.htm
http://www.badil.org/al-Majdal/al-Madjal.htm
mailto:info@badil.org
http://www.badil.org/
../../../badil/var/tmp/kdecache-guest1/krun/9620.0.mail
 http://www.palestineremembered.com 

Contents

Editorial
The Fabric of a People: United in the Struggle for Justice and Dignity..........cccccvevvieieriiicieniiienieeiesie e

Commentary

60 Years of Dignity and Justice Denied: How the unresolved Palestinian refugee question stands for the
failure of the international human rights and humanitarian regime

by Ingrid Jaradat Gassner......[]

Reflections on the Palestine Return Movement

by Muhammad Jaradat ........... O

Special Feature: Portraits of Palestinian Refugees
Mohammad & Rawan Al-Bash: My Father’s Treasure

By Rawan Al-Bash .................. O

Dr. Sanaa Shalan: Palestine at Heart

by Anne Paq ...............c.ccu...... O

Mohammad Awni Obeid: Not for Sale

by Serene AsSir.............cco....... O

Mahmoud Kaddoura: Architect in Exile

by Hazem Jamjoum................. O

Hussein & Ghada Mubaraki: Stealing the River, ‘Trespassing’ on Our Own Land
by Isabelle Humphries ............ O

Charles Tarazi: The Home of My Youth

by Claudia Pena................. O

Hashim & Samer Huneidi: In A Heartbeat, A Pacific-Northwest Story
by Zaha Hassan ...................... O

Fatema Ahmad Owdeh: I Miss the Air

by Karine Mac Allister............ O

Rafat Abu Ghali: The Darker it is, the Closer We are to the Break of Dawn
by Rafat Abu Ghali.................. O

Mustapha Khaled Awad: 60 Years of Nakba is Simply My Life

by Maysa A. Hajjqj ................. O

Lillian Mattar-Pattey: We are the Children of the Apostles

by Hazem Jamjoum................. O

Hussein Loubani: A Journey of Pain

by Mahmoud Zeidan ............... O

Hala George and her Family: Stripped of Our Home and Left with the Shed
by Hala George....................... O

Mary Shouffani: Only One Place We Belong

by Mary Shouffani................... O

Abu Rafik Masad: I Dream of a Free Palestine

by Abu Rafik Masad. ................ O

Walid El-Fassed: A Family Twice Expelled

by Arjan El-Fassed ................. O

Mohammad Manasra: We Loved the Land and the Land Loved Us

by Hazem Jamjoum................. O

Ziad Awaisi: Our Struggle is One and the Same

by Isabelle Humphries ............ O

Sa’diya Al-Liddawi: Struggling Alone for My Children’s Future

by Anne Paq........................... O

Resources and Documents

Chronology of the Nakba........ 0

Upcoming Events: Commemorating 60 Years 0f Nakba ..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e
BDS Update .......ccceeeeeeennene O



Editorial

The Fabric of a People
United in the Struggle for Justice and Dignity

e any will agree that the
past few months have
posed many challenges to

Palestinian unity; yet, when reading
the stories of Palestinian refugees
and internally displaced scattered
around the world, one cannot but
feel the symbiotic union of a people;
something that transcends borders
and politics, “something of the
heart”, as a boy in the Al-Wihdat
refugee camp puts it.

? 5/’5::;’:;‘;3;;5 1”;::—‘(’ é’;ceﬁ’j‘g’ near This special Nakba 60 issue of al Majdal aims to honor the 7 million Palestinian refugees and
internally displaced who live in forced exile today. Voices, from Chile to Gaza, that come together
to tell of their love and longing for their home, land and people; voices that call for humanity,
justice and dignity — and for return, the return of rights, all rights. A demand, after 60 years of
ongoing dispossession and displacement, that is stronger than ever.

Palestinians - the indigenous people of the land which is now Israel and the occupied Palestinian
territory - are suffering from historic injustices as a result of the colonization and dispossession
of'their lands, territories and resources. They are struggling against an ideology - Zionism — that
contends that there should be a Jewish State in ‘Eretz Israel’ - a territorial construct that includes
all of the land of Mandate Palestine, and upon which a Jewish majority should be created and
mainatained. Concretly, this means that Palestinians are faced with discriminatory policies
and practices that violate their fundamental rights, notably their rights to self-determination,
equality, and return.

Despite violations of their fundamental rights, Palestinians remain steadfast and committed
to regain the justice and dignity they have been denied for the past 60 years. They know they
are the indigenous people of this land and that they will return, because they are Palestine. As
Mahatma Gandhi wrote in 1938,

Palestine belongs to the Arabs in the same sense that England belongs to the
English or France to the French. It is wrong and inhuman to impose the Jews on
the Arabs. What is going on in Palestine today cannot be justified by any moral
code of conduct. The mandates have no sanction but that of the last war. Surely
it would be a crime against humanity to reduce the proud Arabs so that Palestine
can be restored to the Jews partly or wholly as their national home.®

(1) Mahatma Gandhi, “The Jews In Palestine”, The Harijan, 26 November 1938.



Selected Articles from the
United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples
entered into force in September 2007

Article 2
Indigenous peoples and individuals are free and equal to all other peoples and individuals and have the right to be free from
any kind of discrimination, in the exercise of their rights, in particular that based on their indigenous origin or identity.

Article 8
1. Indigenous peoples and individuals have the right not to be subjected to forced assimilation or destruction of
their culture.
2. States shall provide effective mechanisms for prevention of, and redress for:
(a) Any action which has the aim or effect of depriving them of their integrity as distinct peoples, or of their cultural
values or ethnic identities;
(b) Any action which has the aim or effect of dispossessing them of their lands, territories or resources;
(c) Any form of forced population transfer which has the aim or effect of violating or undermining any of their
rights;
(d) Any form of forced assimilation or integration;
(e) Any form of propaganda designed to promote or incite racial or ethnic discrimination directed against them.

Article 10

Indigenous peoples shall not be forcibly removed from their lands or territories. No relocation shall take place without the
free, prior and informed consent of the indigenous peoples concerned and after agreement on just and fair compensation
and, where possible, with the option of return.

Article 18

Indigenous peoples have the right to participate in decision-making in matters which would affect their rights, through
representatives chosen by themselves in accordance with their own procedures, as well as to maintain and develop
their own indigenous decision-making institutions.

Article 26

1. Indigenous peoples have the right to the lands, territories and resources which they have traditionally owned,
occupied or otherwise used or acquired.

2. Indigenous peoples have the right to own, use, develop and control the lands, territories and resources that they
possess by reason of traditional ownership or other traditional occupation or use, as well as those which they
have otherwise acquired.

3. States shall give legal recognition and protection to these lands, territories and resources. Such recognition shall
be conducted with due respect to the customs, traditions and land tenure systems of the indigenous peoples
concerned.

Article 27

States shall establish and implement, in conjunction with indigenous peoples concerned, a fair, independent, impartial,
open and transparent process, giving due recognition to indigenous peoples’ laws, traditions, customs and land tenure
systems, to recognize and adjudicate the rights of indigenous peoples pertaining to their lands, territories and resources,
including those which were traditionally

owned or otherwise occupied or used. Indigenous peoples shall have the right to participate in this process.

Article 30
1. Military activities shall not take place in the lands or territories of indigenous peoples, unless justified
by a relevant public interest or otherwise freely agreed with or requested by the indigenous peoples
concerned.

Editorial
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2.States shall undertake effective consultations with the indigenous peoples concerned, through appropriate

procedures and in particular through their representative institutions, prior to using their lands or territories
for military activities.

Article 40

Indigenous peoples have the right to access to and prompt decision through just and fair procedures for the
resolution of conflicts and disputes with States or other parties, as well as to effective remedies for all infringements
of their individual and collective rights. Such a decision shall give due consideration to the customs, traditions,
rules and legal systems of the indigenous peoples concerned and international human rights.

Article 41

The organs and specialized agencies of the United Nations system and other intergovernmental organizations
shall contribute to the full realization of the provisions of this Declaration through the mobilization, inter alia, of
financial cooperation and technical assistance. Ways and means of ensuring participation of indigenous peoples
on issues affecting them shall be established.

Article 42

The United Nations, its bodies, including the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues, and specialized agencies,
including at the country level, and States shall promote respect for and full application of the provisions of this
Declaration and follow up the effectiveness of this Declaration.
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commentary

60 Years of Dignity and Justice Denied

How the unresolved Palestinian refugee question stands for the failure of the
international human rights and humanitarian regime

by Ingrid Jaradat Gassner*

t the beginning of the 20" century, most Palestinians lived inside the borders of
Palestine, which is now divided into Israel and the occupied West Bank and Gaza Strip.

Today, almost 75% of the Palestinian people are displaced, and Palestinian refugees
present the world’s largest and longest-standing unresolved refugee case. Approximately half
of the Palestinian people live in forced exile outside their homeland, while another 23% are
displaced within the borders of former Palestine.! Six decades after the first and most massive
wave of forced displacement in 1948, Palestinian refugees and internally displaced persons
(IDP) still lack access to durable solutions and reparations, including return, restitution
and compensation, in accordance with international law and UN resolutions. While more
Palestinians are being displaced today, effective protection is still not available for them.
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British military ceremony marking
the conquest of Jerusalem,

15 December 1917. (©lsraeli
Government Press Office)

Contrary to conventional wisdom, the Palestinian refugee question is not primarily
a result of armed conflicts, but rather the outcome of a protracted and ongoing
process of colonization and forced population transfer (ethnic cleansing). The
latter is defined by the United Nations as the “systematic, coercive and deliberate
... movement of population into or out of an area ... with the effect or purpose of
altering the demographic composition of a territory, particularly when that ideology
or policy asserts the dominance of a certain group over another” [emphasis added].
Forced population transfer constitutes a war crime and a crime against humanity
under modern international law.?

The origins of Palestinian displacement date back to the early 20" century, when the
Zionist movement began implementation of its Basle Program (1897) with the aim
to “create for the Jewish people a home in Palestine secured by public international
law™ - i.e. a Jewish state in Palestine, where Jews at the time constituted only 8%
of the population and owned some 2.5% of the land. In the period prior to 1948,
Zionist colonization of Palestine was conducted through the implantation of Jewish
immigrants — by 1948, the portion of the Jewish population in Palestine had grown
to one third, primarily due to immigration —and land purchases by Zionist agencies,
such as the Palestine Colonization Agency (PCA) and the Jewish National Fund (JNF).

—

The idea of transferring the indigenous population out of the country played a key role in
political Zionism from early on, simply because most Palestinian Arabs were unwilling to
part with their land — Zionist landownership increased from 2.5% to approximately 6% only
between 1922 and 1945* - and because Palestinians resisted Zionist colonization. Already
Theodor Herzl, the founding father of political Zionism, had stated: “We shall try to spirit the
penniless population across the border by procuring employment for it in the transit countries,
while denying it any employment in our own country. The property owners will come over to
our side. Both process of expropriation and removal of the poor must be carried out discreetly
and circumspectly.”

During the British Mandate over Palestine (1923 — 1948), leading Zionist thinkers
developed numerous plans to carry out the ethnic cleansing of Palestine, including the
Weizman Transfer Scheme (1930), the Soskin Plan of Compulsory Transfer (1937), the
Weitz Transfer Plan (1937), the Bonne Scheme (1938), the al-Jazirah Scheme (1938), the
Norman Transfer Plan to Iraq (1934—38), and the Ben-Horin Plan (1943—48).6 The Zionist
movement and its colony in Palestine, however, did not have the power to requiste territory
by force and implement a massive forced population transfer until late 1947, when both
became possible for the first time.

Zionist colonization of Palestine and the massive forced displacement of the indigenous Arab
population in 1947 — 1949 would most likely not have occurred without the active support of
the international community at the time, which violated its own standards and international law
for this purpose. Since then, the international community has failed to hold Israel to account
for its violations of international law. This explains why, 60 years later, the Palestnian refugee
question has remained unresolved, while Israel continues to occupy and colonize Palestinian
land and displace Palestinians.



World War | — 1947: Setting the stage for armed conflict

Commentary

and population transfer

Until the First World War, Palestine was one of several Arab territories that
were part of the Ottoman Empire, while the indigenous population aspired
for independence and sovereignty in an Arab state. Encouraged by a promise
of the British High Commissioner in Egypt to support Arab independence
(Mac Mahon — Hussein correspondence)’, Arab forces joined the Allied
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effort to bring down the Ottoman regime, and Palestine was occupied by

Allied forces under British command in September 1918.

Towards the end of the war, Arabs in Palestine and beyond were inspired
by U.S. President Woodrow Wilson’s doctrine of self-determination for
the post-World War I order® and the Anglo-French Declaration signed in
November 1918. The latter stated that the goal “/... was] the complete and

final liberation of the peoples who have for so long been oppressed by the

Turks, and the setting up of national governments and administrations
deriving their authority from the free exercise of the initiative and choice
of the indigenous populations” [emphasis added]. This and the doctrine
of self-determination were subsequently enshrined in the Covenant of the
League of Nations (1919).°
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In 1919, the Allied powers members of the League of Nations decided to
establish a temporary “Mandate System” in accordance with the Covenant
of the League of Nations to facilitate the independence of these territories. Article 22 of the
Covenant stipulates that “certain communities formerly belonging to the Turkish Empire
have reached a stage of development where their existence as independent nations can be
provisionally recognized subject to the rendering of administrative advice and assistance by
a Mandatory until such time as they are able to stand alone. The wishes of these communities
must be a principal consideration in the selection of the Mandatory.”'* The August 1920 Treaty
of Sévres between the Allied Powers and Turkey affirmed that Palestine “be provisionally
recognised as an independent State subject to the rendering of administrative advice and
assistance by a Mandatory until such time as they are able to stand alone.”"

Parellel to the above, however, Britain and France had signed already in 1916 a secret
understanding (Sykes-Picot agreement) in which they defined their respective spheres of
influence and control in West Asia after the expected downfall of the Ottoman Empire. Palestine
was reserved for British control under this agreement. In November 1917, the British cabinet
issued the Balfour Declaration. The one-page letter from Arthur Balfour, British Secretary of
Foreign Affairs, to Lord Rothschild, head of the British Zionist Federation, granted explicit
recognition of and support to the idea of establishing a Jewish “national home” in Palestine
through immigration and colonization. Despite widespread Arab opposition to the Balfour
Declaration, Great Britain viewed Zionist colonization as a way to advance British interests
in the region.'?

Due to the above, Arabs, including the indigenous population of Palestine, were strongly opposed
to a British Mandate over Palestine. Britain, however, insisted that, “in the case of the ‘independent

From the front page of The New
York Times, 14 May 1948.



Commentary

Jewish immigration to
Palestine was facilitated,
while the borders of
many Western countries,
including the United
States, remained largely
closed to Jewish refugees,
despite the knowledge
of Nazi persecution and
atrocities.

nation’ of Palestine, we do not propose even to go through the form of consulting the wishes of
the present inhabitants of the country. Zionism, be it right or wrong, good or bad, is rooted in
age-long traditions, in present needs, in future hopes, of far profounder import than the desires
and prejudices of the 700,000 Arabs who now inhabit that ancient land.”" In 1920, the League
of Nations entrusted the temporary administration (“Mandate”) of Palestine to Great Britain.

The British Mandate, which eventually came into force in September 1923, thus included an
inherent contradiction which set the stage for armed conflict in Palestine: although Palestine was
classified as a “Class A” Mandate (i.e. the type closest to independence), the British Mandate
incorporated the political commitment to the Zionist movement set out in the Balfour Declaration.
In order to faciliate establishment of the Jewish “national home”, moreover, the British Mandate
accorded full political rights to the Zionist colony in Palestine, while only civil and religious
rights were granted to the Palestinian Arab majority.'*

Subsequently, the British administration in Palestine promulgated new laws, including the
1925 Citizenship Order and the 1928 Land (Settlement of Title) Order, which facilitated Zionist
colonization. Under these laws, tens of thousands of Jews from around the world would immigrate
and acquire citizenship in Palestine, while thousands of Palestinian Arabs who were abroad
were unable to acquire citizenship'®; annual land acquisitions by Zionist agencies increased
twenty-fold. Although the overall amount of land purchased remained small, the real impact of
Zionist purchases lay in the quality and strategic location of the land, and in the unprecedented
policy of forced eviction of indigenous tenant farmers. Already in the 1930s, the British
administration grappled with a new phenomenon of landless peasants, and by the early 1940s,
the average rural Palestinian Arab family had less than half of the agricultural land required for
their subsistence.!¢

British support of Zionist colonization led to a series of Palestinian uprisings, including the
“Great Revolt”, which lasted from 1936 to 1939. The British responded with a combination of
military force and administrative measures, including emergency laws, that severely curtailed
basic civil and political rights and weakened Palestinian resistance. Palestinian Arab leaders
were arrested, jailed and deported. Thousands of Palestinian Arab homes were demolished.
Some 40,000 Palestinian Arabs fled the country during the mid-1930s alone.!” Palestinian
uprisings were suppressed in cooperation with Zionist militias which were trained and armed
for this purpose.

Following each uprising, the British government dispatched an official commission of inquiry
to Palestine. These commissions invariably identified fear of the political and economic
consequences of Zionism among the indigenous population as the leading cause of the conflict.
British efforts to appease Arab resistance by slowing down the rate of Jewish immigration and a
promise of sovereignty after ten years — which was conditioned upon a power-sharing agreement
between the indigenous Arab majority and the Zionist colony (1939 White Paper) - triggered
strong opposition of and armed conflict with the Zionist movement.

British efforts at the time to restrict Jewish immigration failed, among others, because western
states, in particular the United States, supported and facilitated the resettlement in Palestine of
displaced European Jews in violation of international commitments not to resettle displaced
persons in non-self-governing territories without the consent of the indigenous population. [need



a reference here] Jewish immigration to Palestine was facilitated, while the borders of many
Western countries, including the United States, remained largely closed to Jewish refugees,
despite the knowledge of Nazi persecution and atrocities.

In early 1947, the British government informed the newly-established United Nations (the
successor to the League of Nations) of its intention to withdraw from Palestine.

1947 — 1949: from the UN Partion Plan to the Palestinian Nakba

AT 2 A TR -'!E;

Palestinian students protesting UN partition plan, 12 March 1947. (©Orient House Archives)

The United Nations took up the “Question of Palestine” in 1947, when the atrocities of the Nazi
regime and World War II had given rise to new international legal norms that were binding for
states. The UN Charter, for example, prohibits the use of force in inter-state relations'®, including
the aqusisition of territory by force, and provides for the right of nations to self-determination.
The United Nations, however, sidelined the right to self-determination of the Arab majority and
prevented de-colonization of Palestine, in clear knowledge of the likely disastrous consequences
for the Arab people of Palestine, the people of the region, and international peace and security.

The UN Charter stipulated that upon termination of a mandate, non-self-governing territories
should become independent or be placed under a “Temporary Trusteeship” of the United Nations.
In the case of Palestine, however, the UN General Assembly decided to appoint a special committee
to formulate recommendations concerning the future status of the country. The Assembly rejected
arequest of Arab states to discuss independence of Palestine as a possible option. It also rejected
requests, again submitted by Arab states, to obtain an advisory opinion from the International
Court of Justice (ICJ) concerning the appropriate legal outcome of the British decision to
terminate the Mandate in Palestine, as well as the legal authority of the UN to issue and enforce
recommendations on the future status of the country.
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In September 1947, the UN Special Committee on Palestine (UNSCOP)
presented its final report which included a majority proposal and a
minority proposal, because Committee members had been unable to
reach a consensus on the future status of the country.?’ The majority
of the Committee members supported the partition of Palestine into
two states, one Arab and the other Jewish, although they conceded
that “/w]ith regard to the principle of self-determination, although
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From the front page of The New
York Times, 15 May 1948.
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On 29 November 1947, however, the UN General Assembly adopted Resolution 181 recommending
the partition of Palestine into two states, one Arab and one Jewish, in which all persons were to be
guaranteed equal rights, and an international regime for the city of Jerusalem. 33 states, including
the United States, Canada and many European states, voted for partition, while 13 states, including
all Arab states, voted against and 10 states, including Britain, abstained. The proposed Jewish state
was allotted 56% of the land, even though Jews constituted less than one-third of the population
and owned no more than 7% of the land. The dispersal of the Arab and Jewish populations in the
country meant that nearly half the population of the proposed Jewish state consisted of Palestinian
Arabs, who owned nearly 90% of the land.”

In Palestine, immediate massive protests against the UN partition plan by the Arab population gave
way rapidly to armed conflict between local Arab and militarily superior Zionist militias. The latter
were “trying to consolidate the advantages gained at the General Assembly by a succession of drastic
operations [...]"** A first major wave of Palestinian refugees was induced by the Zionist military
operation known as “Plan Dalet”, which was designed to achieve the military fait accompli upon
which the state of Israel was to be based, including conquest of western Jerusalem and its surrounding
Arab villages.> The massacre of more than 100 men, women and children in the Palestinian village
of Deir Yassin in April 1948 is widely acknowledged to have contributed to the fear and panic that
led to the mass displacement.

While some 300,000 Palestinians were forcibly displaced by Zionist forces when Palestine was still
under the British Mandate regime (November 1947 - 14 May 1948), neither Britain nor the United
Nations intervened to protect Palestinians. The United Nations, moreover, also failed to protect
Palestinians from forced displacement during the subsequent first Arab-Israeli war (15 May 1948
- 1949).

States voting for the UN partition plan were aware of the fact that partition would have to be imposed
on the parties.* However, UN efforts for implementation of the plan through the Security Council and
a Palestine Commission set up for this purpose were soon abandoned. As Palestine descended into
the predicted violence, the United States launched in March 1948 an initiative for UN Trusteeship
in the UN Security Council but failed to pursue it with determination. On 14 May 1948, Britain
concluded the withdrawal of its troops and terminated its Mandate regime over Palestine without
any formal arrangement for the transfer of power. On the same day, the Zionist movement declared
the establishment of the state of Israel, and Arab states responded with a declaration of war on 15
May 1947.

As the first Arab-Israeli war was fought in Palestine, hundreds of thousands of Palestinians more were forcibly
displaced from their homes as a result of Israeli war crimes, including shelling of Palestinian communities
with the aim to induce flight, massacres, rape, looting, destruction of civilian property and homes, and overt
expulsion of the civilian population of Palestinian towns and villages. Israeli military forces systematically
destroyed numerous Palestinian villages, as one of six measures included in a “Retroactive Transfer” plan
approved in June 1948 in order to prevent Palestinian Arab refugees from returning to their homes. The
destruction of homes and entire villages was accompanied by large-scale looting. %’

During the war, the United Nations declared an embargo on arms sales, appointed a mediator,
brokered cease-fire agreements and provided emergency assistance to Palestinian refugees through
its Refugee Organization (later to be replaced by UNRWA). It also issued several resolutions,
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including UN General Assembly Resolution 194 (11 December 1948), which affirmed Palestinian
refugees’ right of return to their homes and properties and established the UN Conciliation
Commission for Palestine (UNCCP). The latter was mandated to ensure protection, including
durable solutions, for Palestinian refugees in accordance with UNGAR 194 and facilitate a peace
agreement between Arab states and Israel. None of these measures, however, were able to prevent
or reverse Palestinian displacement.

Palestinians fleeing the the war near Tulkarem in 1948. (©ICRC)

By the time the first Arab-Israeli war ended in 1949 with cease-fire agreements between Israel and Arab
states, Israel had effective control over 78% of British Mandate Palestine, including areas which had
been allocated to the Arab state under the UN partition plan. In several of the sub-districts of former
Palestine that were wholly incorporated into Israel — Jaffa, Ramla and Beersheba —not one Palestinian
village was left standing. In total, more than 500 Palestinian villages, with a land base of more than
17,000 km?, were depopulated.?® An estimated two-thirds of Palestinian refugee homes inside the new
state of Israel were destroyed; the remaining third were expropriated and occupied by Jews. In total,
750 — 900,000 Palestinians, representing half of the pre-war Arab population of Palestine or 85% of
those in the territory that became the state of Israel, were displaced.*® Most of them became refugees;
of the roughly 150,000 Palestinians who remained in those parts of Palestine that became the state of
Israel on 14 May 1948, approximately 30,000 were internally displaced persons (IDP).

On 11 May 1949, the UN General Assembly decided that “Israel is a peace-loving State which
accepts the obligations contained in the Charter and is able and willing to carry out those
obligations™! and approved Israel’s membership in the United Nations.

For the purpose of the United Nations and its dominant members states, Palestine and the Palestinian
people had disappeared. “They had become an indistinct mass of refugees — not a nation, not a
political entity, only a problem, and not a major one at that.”*? Palestinians refer to the events of
1947 — 1949 as the Nakba, meaning the Catastrophe.



1949 - 2008: the “ongoing Nakba”

In May 1949, the UN General Assembly had approved Israel’s UN membership without
conditions. The international community thereby prejudiced the outcome of parallel
UN-facilitated efforts for Arab-Israeli peace and a solution of the Palestinian refugee
question, and encouraged continuation of the Zionist pre-war policy by the state of
Israel.

Most western states and the Soviet Union had recognized the state of Israel immediately
following its declaration on 14 May 1948. One year later, the UN General Assembly
approved Isarel’s UN membership without conditions; it only “recalled” UN resolutions
181 and 194 and “took note of” the explanations provided by Israel’s representative,
including the argument that the state of Israel had acted in self-defense. The United
Nations thereby provided implicit recognition of Israel on the territory conquered in
the first Arab-Israeli war, in contravention of the UN partition plan and in violation of
the UN Charter-enshrined prohibition on the acquisition of territory by force.

Moreover, in an era when states had endorsed the Universal Declaration of Human
Rights (1948), prosecuted Nazi perpetrators for the crimes against humanity, including
genocide, committed against Jews and other people (Nuremberg Tribunals, 1945 - 1949)
and established war crimes under the Fourth Geneva Convention (1949), the General
Assembly failed to hold Israel to account for war crimes and crimes against humanity
committed against Palestinians before and during the first Arab-Israeli war, including
the massive population transfer.

Lack of accountability to international law created an environment in which UNCCP-
faciliated efforts for conflict resolution based on UN General Assembly Resolution
194 were prone to fail. The Palestinian refugee question featured central during the
peace conferences of Lausanne (1949) and Paris (1951), where Arab states inisted
that a solution must be based on the choice of the refugees and include return to their
homes and properties now located in Israel, while Israel insisted that the solution of
the refugee problem was to be sought primarily in resettlement in Arab territory. By
1952, the UNCCP concluded that it had failed in its task and held that the parties would
have “to depart from their original positions in order to make possible practical and
realistic arrangements towards the solution of the refugee problem,” even at the cost
of straying from the letter of Resolution 194.%

Since the 1970s, the United Nations has reaffirmed that Palestinians are a nation entitled
to self-determination, independence and refugee return,* but the lack of accountability
has remained. Failure to uphold the rule of law gave rise to a situation where Israel
violates the fundamental rights of the Palestinian and other Arab people and continues
its colonial enterprise with impunity:
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Estimated Number of Palestinians Displaced, by Period of Displacement

Year

Number of Palestinians Displaced

British Mandate: 1922—-1947

100,000 — 150,000

Partition to Armistice (Nakba):1947-1949

750,000 — 900,000

Military rule in Israel: 1950—1966

35,000 — 45,000

1967 War

400,000 — 450,000

Occupation: 1967-2006

300,000 — 400,000

Total

1,585,000 — 1,945,000

By mid-2007, the total number of Palestinian refugees and IDPs, including descendants, was estimated to be 7.5 million.
Estimated Area of Palestinian Land Expropriated/Confiscated, by Period

Year

Area of Confiscated Palestinian Land (km?)

British Mandate: 19221947

Partition to Armistice (Nakba): 1947-1949 17,178
Military rule in Israel: 1950-1966 700
1967 War 849
Occupation: 1967-2006 3,558
Total 22,285

The total area of historical Palestine (Israel and OPT) is 26,323 km2.

Note: there is no single authoritative source for the exact number of Palestinian forcibly displaced
since 1948, or for the exact amount of land expropriated from Palestinians by Israel since 1948.
The figures above are based on available data and estimates. For a more detailed analysis of
these figures and comprehensive references, see: Survey of Palestinian Refugees and Internally
Displaced Persons 2006-7, BADIL Resource Center.

“Infiltrator” Refugee returning home, but arrested and searched by Israeli forces, 1954 (©lsraeli Government Press Office).
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villages continued until the mid-1960s; it was referred to as ‘cleaning up the national views.’*

A discriminatory, apartheid-like regime was promulgated by the state, in order to “legalize” and
sustain the massive population transfer and requisition of Palestinian property accomplished
before and during the first Arab-Israeli war. The 1952 Citizenship and Entry into Israel Law
facilitated the mass denationalization of Palestinian refugees; because most Palestinian refugees
were outside the state of Israel on, or after, 14 July 1952, the date on which the Citizenship
and Entry into Israel Law came into effect. They have been unable to resume domicile in their
homeland, while all Jews in the world and their relatives are entitled to Israeli citizenship
under the /950 Law of Return. A web of new land laws, including emergency regulations and
laws relating to so-called abandoned property, was adopted to facilitate the expropriation of
Palestinian-owned land and transfer of title to the state, the Development Authority and the JNF.
Under the 1960 Basic Law: Israel Lands, land held by these three bodies is not transferable
through sale or any other way. This land regime has ensured exclusive use by Jews of most of
“Israel Lands”, which are estimated to be around 93% of the land in Israel.*
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Palestinians fleeing the Gaza Strip in small fishing boats in the 1950s. Refugees from all over Palestine gathered in the
Gaza Strip in 1948; many tried to continue their journey via two routes: a 200 mile desert track through the Sinai to Cairo,
and the Mediterranean Sea. Both routes were cut off as a result of the 1967 Israeli occupation. (©@UNRWA Archives)

Nakba Special Issue | 15
Winter 2007 / Spring 2008



Commentary

While various Israeli official
and unofficial transfer
plans for “resolving” the
Palestinian refugee problem
through encouraging
permanent resettlement (e.g.
in Iraq, Libya, Latin America
and elsewhere) have had
little practical impact,
Israel’s transfer policy has
been highly effective in the
1967 Occupied Palestinian
Territory (OPT).

After the war, Israel’s regime
of military occupation in
the 1967 OPT served to
consolidate and sustain the
war gains.

16

At the same time, the state of Israel continued to change the demographic composition of the
country through further population transfer:

Between 1949 - 1966, Palestinians were forcibly transferred primarily from the northern border
villages, the Naqab (Negev), the “Little Triangle” (an area ceded to Israel under the armistice
agreement with Jordan), and from villages partially emptied during the 1948 war. The 1965
Planning and Building Law established 123 Arab communities with little or no space for
expansion. No new Palestinian community has been approved since then. All other Palestinian
communities, even if established prior to the creation of the state of Israel, were classified as
unauthorized and illegal (“unrecognized villages”). Unrecognized villages cannot apply for
building licenses, are not entitled to public services, and homes can be demolished. “Nearly
100,000 Palestinian citizens of Israel — one in 10 — live in unrecognized villages.”!

Since 1967, the official policy of Judaization - i.e., the establishment of Jewish majorities in
every area of Israel - has led to more dispossession and internal displacement of Palestinian
citizens of Israel.** This policy is reflected in a 2004 emergency plan of then Prime Minister Ariel
Sharon to “save the outlying areas” in the Nagab (Negev) and Galilee*, as well as in Israel’s
national development plan, “Tama 35 (2005). Since the collapse of the Isracli-Palestinian
peace negotiations in 2000, moreover, plans for the transfer of Palestinian citizens outside of
the country have again become a legitimate matter of public debate and law proposals. In July
2001, for instance, a bill was proposed to encourage the emigration of Palestinian citizens of
Israel on the grounds that “they do not identify with the Jewish character of the state” and in
order to strengthen “Israel as a Jewish state and a democracy.”*

While various Israeli official and unofficial transfer plans for “resolving” the Palestinian refugee
problem through encouraging permanent resettlement (e.g. in Iraq, Libya, Latin America and
elsewhere) have had little practical impact, Israel’s transfer policy has been highly effective
in the 1967 Occupied Palestinian Territory (OPT):

Israeli plans to take control of and colonize the remainder of British Mandatory Palestine, i.e.
the Jordanian controlled West Bank, including eastern Jerusalem, and the Egyptian controlled
Gaza Strip, had existed since 1948, and preparations for a military government there were
ongoing since 1963.% In 1967, armed conflict (the 1967 Arab-Israeli war) provided once more
the context in which Israel was able to induce massive forced displacement of Palestinians and
establish effective control over more Palestinian land.

During the 1967 war, Israeli military forces again attacked numerous Palestinian civilian areas
that had no military significance. Refugee camps in Jericho, for example, were bombed by the
Israeli air force, leading to an exodus of tens of thousands of refugees. Palestinians were driven
from their homes, others were transferred out of the West Bank on busses and trucks provided
by the military.* Isracl completely destroyed several Palestinian villages and thousands of
homes; the entire Moroccan quarter in the Old City of Jerusalem, adjacent to the Western Wall,
was razed to make way for a large plaza for Jewish religious and national events.

After the war, Israel’s regime of military occupation in the 1967 OPT served to consolidate
and sustain the war gains. This regime of occupation combines overt military force with an
administrative regime based on a myriad of military orders, which were modelled on the



discriminatory, apartheid-like legal regime over Palestinians in Israel for the same Zionist policy
objectives:* in the course of 41 years, Israel’s regime of occupation has prevented refugee
return, facilitated confiscation of Palestinian land and Jewish colonization, and displaced more
of the occupied Palestinian population. These policies have been implemented irrespective of
the US-led peace efforts between Israel and the PLO (since 1991) and the presence in the OPT
of the international community (since 1967) and the Palestinian Authority (since 1994). They
have changed the demographic composition of the country and prevented self-determination
of the Palestinian people: by 2007, the approximately 450,000 Jewish settlers in colonies in
the occupied West Bank, including eastern Jerusalem, constituted 15% of the population in
this area, Israel held at least 45% of the land, and the construction of the Wall annexed, de
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A destroyed Palestinian refugee shelter, Ein Al-Sultan destroyed camp, Jericho 1967. (©QUNRWA Archives)

Rather than holding Israel to account, the international community led by the Quartet (United
States, EU, Russia and the United Nations) has imposed sanctions against the occupied
Palestinians since 2006. A policy of economic and diplomatic sanctions was combined with
divisive financial, diplomatic and military support, in order to bring down the Hamas-led Pal-
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estinian Authority government elected democratically in 2006. The results are unprecedented
humanitarian crisis, the collapse of the Palestinian political system, internecine armed conflict
between the leading Palestinian factions, geographical fragmentation of the OPT and lack of
humanitarian access due to Israel’s closure policy, in particular to the occupied Gaza Strip
— where 70% of the population are Palestinian refugees of the Nakba of 1948.

In this relentless process of Israeli land-grab and Palestinian displacement, the Nakba continues
for Palestinians, and so does their struggle for dignity and justice. Both have shaped Palestinian
identity from generation to generation, in the homeland and in exile.

How do Palestinian refugees reflect on their lives 60 years into the Nakba? This is the question addressed
in this magazine through the life-stories told by 15 Palestinians living in places as diverse as Britain,
Chile, Egypt, Greece, Jordan, Lebanon, Scotland, Syria, The Netherlands, Canada, the United States
and historic Palestine (Israel, West Bank and Gaza Strip). Their stories are different in many ways. They
reflect loss, humiliation, hopes, efforts and successes at re-building lives, homes and communities in
foreign, often unhospitable, lands and societies that have become “hosts” not by choice. At the same
time, these stories are strikingly similar, because the current attempts to destroy the Palestinian collective
identity bind new generations of Palestinians directly to the older ones, and the exile to the home. And
as the young grapple with the consequences of a shared but distant past and reclaim a collective present,
every one of them has somehow, through all of the different jouneys, arrived together at the same place.*

* Ingrid Jaradat Gassner is the Director of Badil. She can be reached at info@badil.org
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Reflections on the Palestine Return
Movement

by Muhammad Jaradat*

hen the first news came from Tunis and Tel-Aviv in early September 1993 about the
s ’s / secret talks between the PLO and the Israeli government, the people of Palestine
inside and in the exile were torn between enthusiasm and optimism on the one

hand, and doubt and skepticism on the other. “Let’s wait and see”, said many then.

The situation of uncertainty did not last long. A week later, the secret Oslo talks were revealed
and we learned that the parties had concluded the talks with a Declaration of Principles that
was to pave the way for final status negotiations on the fundamental rights of the Palestinian
people, i.e. the agreement which became known as the Oslo Agreement or the Declaration of
Principles.

Later on, when the text of the agreement was opened to the public, the Israeli press was the first
to publish. I ran to the Israeli Press Office in West Jerusalem to get a copy - it was published
then only in Hebrew and English. Reading the original English copy, I was not only shocked
but also deeply alarmed and upset, because I had expected that the PLO leadership would not
surrender and, at the minimum, uphold the fundamental national rights and base any agreement
on UN resolutions and international law. Reading the agreement, I searched for references to
the core issue of the conflict, i.e. the refugee issue, and found it mentioned only in a few words
as an issue scheduled “for discussion in the final status negotiations.” I thus understood that
there were no guarantees or principles recognized for dealing with this most central issue of
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The scene in the streets
was heartbreaking:
people were dancing and
celebrating the coming
peace and a promising
future on the eve of 13
September 1993; they had
no idea what the Israeli
government had in store
for them.
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Nakba 59" Commemoration,
Bethlehem 14 May 2007.
(©BADIL)
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what to do about such deterioration? Who can do what? Is
it possible to reinstate people’s rights as a solid basis for
peace and coexistence in the region? These questions and
hundreds more were ringing in the heads of activists, mainly
those who had been heavily involved in the first Intifada,
not only in Palestine but also in communities in exile. In
fact, those concerned initially were a very small number of
people, while the scene in the streets was heartbreaking:
people were dancing and celebrating the coming peace and
a promising future on the eve of 13 September 1993; they
had no idea what the Israeli government had in store for
them. These public celebrations showed clearly that our
people are keen for peace and justice; they were ready to
place flowers on the jeeps of the Israeli occupation army
which only a day before was killing them. The scene was
amazing and a clear statement by the Palestinian people of
forgiveness, tolerance and acceptance of the other.
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We Will Return

Those were the conditions and circumstances in which early
preparations for the grassroots right of return movement
started in 1993-4. More organized action followed in 1995,
based on the first large popular conference convened in
the former al-Fara’a military detention center opposite the
al-Fara’a refugee camp. Some 1,500 participants had come to this conference from all over
historic Palestine, and it marked the beginning of the grassroots right-of-return movement.
More initiatives, including specialized workshops and popular conferences, followed the
al-Fara’a conference between 1996 and 2000, in places such as Nazareth, Bethlehem, Gaza,
Beirut, Copenhagen, Berlin, Washington, Vancouver, London and many others.

Still, the obstacles and challenges for the activists who then led these initiatives were
tremendous:

The majority of the Palestinian public still believed that their fundamental rights would now be
implemented, because they had formed the minimum national program of the PLO for so long: the
independent state with Jerusalem as its capital and the return of the refugees to their homes.

There was a lack of popular culture and experience with building lobbies or special interest groups,
and with shaping programs for campaigns that aim to advance specific issues. Thus, for example,
a campaign for the protection of Palestinian residency rights in Jerusalem in the early 1990s was
accused of “fragmenting the national rights and the cause”, and similar criticism was raised when
the campaign for refugee rights started in the mid-1990s. At the early stage, moreover, some
people and many of the Palestinian political leadership thought that the popular right-of-return
campaign would develop into a new political party or was intended as an alternative to the PLO,
and the campaign was accused of being driven by “external forces” opposed to the PLO.
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In Israel, the campaign was immediately branded as being a challenge to Israel’s “right to
exist”, as “extremist” undermining the authority of then President Arafat, and as “fundamentally
opposed to peace.” Israeli journalists argued that the campaign undermined Palestinian
statehood, weakened the camp of moderate Palestinians, and shifted the public mood from
conciliation to hostility. They did so, in order to put pressure on the Palestinian leadership and
political activists and cause internal division and conflict.

The Palestine solidarity movement in the West did not understand the campaign initially. Many
solidarity activists wondered what was the problem of these people, and why they were speaking
about the refugees in times when the Palestinians were finally getting their state based on the
Oslo Agreement. In short, the international community at large thought that everything was
settled and that we should move on to something else.

Finally, the popular right-of-return campaign was faced with a serious lack of resources.
Although hundreds, if not thousands of people were ready to contribute as volunteers, there
was a shortage of professional skills and financial resources required for global networking,
production of tools for public education and awareness-raising and effective media work

These obstacles and challenges, in particular those found in the internal, Palestinian arena,
have played a major role in shaping the campaign. They taught its activists to work with and
for the people, to be patient, tolerant and modest, and to build solid partnerships. Education
and awareness-raising was undertaken in many different ways, through talking and writing,
small meetings with selected cadre that could influence the political leadership, workshops
with opinion leaders among their communities, as well as through public rallies and
demonstrations.

Badil Legal Support Network Conference — Uppsala, Sweden, November 2007. (©BADIL)
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Many solidarity activists
wondered what was
the problem of these
people, and why they
were speaking about the
refugees in times when the
Palestinians were finally
getting their state based on
the Oslo Agreement.
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New community centers,
committees and NGOs have
been formed wherever
Palestinians live, and
Palestinian communities
are more aware of
their rights and better
organized.
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Initially, all these efforts were focused on one main question: “how can we stop the
demoralization among the refugees in Palestine and in the exile and bring back hope and
strength?” The answer was found in the creation and broad dissemination of slogans which
affirmed Palestinian refugee rights in a simple language, such as: “the right of return is
sacred”, “the right of return is possible and realistic”” and “my home is my dignity”. The next
step was to give substance to these slogans by introducing refugee communities to relevant
international law and a rights-based approach to the refugee issue through lectures, workshops
and discussions conducted in the camps, and to ensure the widest-possible public outreach
through the local media.

Nowadays, some 15 years later, we should be proud of the Palestine Return Movement’s
achievements:

New community centers, committees and NGOs have been formed wherever Palestinians
live, and Palestinian communities are more aware of their rights and better organized. Efforts
at training the youth and building a new generation of community leaders have been started.
Since 2000, individuals, groups and organizations have become more connected across borders;
they have formed networks and coalitions, which jointly organize conferences and function
as pressure groups.

Research and literature produced in this period have succeeded in closing gaps in information
and knowledge, while new and diverse tools of struggle have been developed for stronger
impact. Today, the repertoire of tools is no longer limited to right-of-return rallies and
demonstrations; it rather includes fact finding visits, petitions, advocacy and lobbying among
policy makers, the use of elections as an opportunity for pressuring candidates for a clear and
rights-based position on the refugee question, and the strategy global campaign for Boycott,
Divestment and Sanctions (BDS) against Israel which has gained considerable strength and
momentum over the past few years.

The Palestine Return Movement has succeeded in revitalizing the Palestinian consensus about
the centrality of the right to return for the future of the Palestinian people and peace in the
region. This consensus is expressed in similar language by a large majority of the Palestinian
public, organized civil society and the media, as well as in public statements of the Palestinian
leadership. Understanding and support of this Palestinian consensus, as well as the need for a
solution of the Palestinian refugee issue in accordance with international law, have increased
considerably also among the global solidarity movement and a small but important minority
of Jews in Israel.

Looking forward for ways this Movement can be sustained and become even more effective,
we see a need to move on, beyond the focus on the right of return per se, and towards building
a Palestinian culture and struggle for actual return. Creative and practical plans and methods,
as well as more direct action, will be required for this purpose.

*Muhammad Jaradat is the Coordinator of the Campaign Unit of Badil. He can be contacted at camp@badil.org



My Father’s Treasure

Mohamad and Rawan Al-Bash - Damascus, Syria

By Rawan Al Bash*

My name is Rawan Al Bash and I would like to tell the story
of my father since he was displaced in 1948.

My father, Mohamad Al Bash, is from the village of Tiret Haifa
in Haifa, on the north shore of Palestine. My father’s family
consisted of his father Ibrahim and his mother Ghazaleh and
two children when they were exiled from Palestine in 1948;
my father, who was only four years old at the time, was the
oldest son.

They had a small fruit grove that they depended on for
consumption and provision and owned sheep, which supplied
the neighborhood with milk and cheese, and which they used
to exchange for other goods like beans and wheat. My father
used to play with his bare feet on the grass of their garden;
this is also where he hid his treasure under the smallest tree. His treasure was a collection of all
the old things he had found on the ground.

Their exile began when his father came and asked his mother to gather all their things and leave
their home. This was after they had heard of the massacres the Jewish and British armies had
committed against the Palestinian people. My father was worried about his treasure so he ran to
the garden to fetch it. He was not wearing his shoes and while he was under his lovely tree he
heard the sounds of bombs and shootings, his mother quickly came, grabbed his small hand and
took him, barefoot, away from the bombs and bullets.

They walked for one day and night in search of a safe place where the sounds of bombs and weapons
could not be heard. My father’s feet were too small to resist the sharp and tough stones on the road,
his feet were harmed and blood covered them. But my father was not thinking about his feet, the
only thing he was worried about was his treasure, he did not want anyone to touch it.

After long and hard days of walking, my father’s family became very tired and hungry. My father
started to feel the pain in his feet, he asked his mother to carry him but his mother was pregnant.
She gave birth on the way.

They arrived to a place that was full of people who had come from different villages in Palestine,
some people slept in tents, others under the sky; my father’s family made a tent of their clothes
and spent a few nights under it. By the end of the month, they were taken by train to the Syrian
borders and then to Aleppo, in the north of Syria. There they built their new home: four walls with
an aluminum ceiling that did little to protect them from the wind and rain in the winter.

After 10 years of exile, my grandfather died and left the responsibility of the family to his elder son
“my father” who was only 14 years old. My father had to work while he was attending school, he
collected plants and herbs from the lands of other people in return for a meager pay. His mother had
to serve rich people in Aleppo to support her children. This situation was intolerable to my father,
and in 1958 he decided to move the family from Aleppo to Damascus in search of a better life.

Village school (1993) — last
school graduates (1947) (source:
palestineremembered.com)

Al-Tira. Known in Arabic as Tiret Haifa
to distinguish it from other villages in
Palestine with the same name, Al-Tira
was one of the first villages to be at-
tacked soon after the annoucement
of the Partition Resolution. On 12 De-
cember 1947, members of the Irgun
Zvai Leumi (IZL) terror gang raided
the village killing 13 and wounding 10
villagers. Between 24 April and 3 May
1948, 600 of the village’s women and
children were bused out by the British
troops to Jinin and Nablus areas, but
many of the inhabitants formed a local
popular resistance committee that was
able to successfully defend their village
until the second half of July 1948. When
the village finally fell to a combined force
from the Israeli Navy, Golani, Carmeli,
and Alexandroni brigades on 16 July
1948. The Israeli soldiers massacred at
least 25 of the village’s defenders. Today
the Israeli colonies of ha-Chotrim, Tirat
Karmel, Megadim, Kefar Gallim, & Beyt
Tzvi stand on the lands of the village.
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In Damascus, they rented a house until in 1961 they were able
to buy land with the help of the General Authority for Palestine
Arab Refugees (GAPAR) and build a house in Yarmouk Camp.
My father left school and decided to devote his life to taking
care of his brothers, sisters and mother. Five years later, he
started to build a big house which kept the family together
during that time. All his brothers and sisters were able to
attend school and some of them got diplomas. My father has
two sisters and one of them, Lotfiah, married a Palestinian who
took her back to live in Nablus, just a few months before the
1967 War, and where she has been living until now. Except
on two occasions, my father has been unable to see his sister
ever since. [ am now in touch with her children, my cousins,
via the internet.

My father eventually got married and in order to avoid the
crowdedness of the camp, he moved to the city center. He
bought a house there and now owns a store that sells birds.

My father’s story affected me and my family’s life tremendously.
I, my brothers and sisters know that our real wealth is our
perseverance in life; this is what pushes us to work hard to
prove ourselves as Palestinians in the society. I learned from
my father how to fight for life — how to remain steadfast in time
of difficulties and persist to achieve my goals. From his life
of exile, I also realized how badly injustice can affect honest
people. My father never forgot his tree and keeps mentioning
it whenever he talks about his childhood. I also remember the

Mohamad in Syria

Mohamad
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stories that my grand-mother told us about our land and fruit
trees and I feel I want to fly and come back to my homeland and kiss the land that belongs to us.

Although I did not grow up in a camp, being a refugee has always been a bitter fact in my life;
always envied my friends and classmates when they were talking about their lands and villages.
In my dreams I always see myself playing on the green grass under a fruit tree, but in the morning,
after I open my eyes, I realize that it is just a dream, and that makes me desperate. I always say
to myself that “great achievements start with a dream” then I go back to dream in hope that this
will be the first step to my return.

When [ see the world ignoring our suffering and believing Israel’s mendacity, I feel hopeless; when
the world agrees with Israel that Palestinian people should pay for the Holocaust - which was not
perpetrated by Palestinians - I feel desperate; when Israel ignores international law and UN resolutions
like 194, T become desperate, but all these feelings have not weakened me; to the contrary, they
have pushed me to fight for our rights as refugees and for our right to return to our homes and lands.
I am now working with Aidoun Group, which defends the rights of Palestinian refugees and their
fundamental right of return in the hope that a rights-based solution will solve our exile.

Although it is hard to live again with people who affected our life as refugees very badly, I do not
mind to go back to Palestine and live with Jewish people, all together on the same land. The most
important thing for me is to go back to the land I always dreamed of.

*Rawan Al Bash was born in 1987-Damascus, Syria, she has been the student-faculty, coordinator of
management affairs at Aidoun since 2004.



“Palestine at heart” for a Palestinian refugee writer in Amman

Dr. Sanaa Shalan - Amman, Jordan

By Anne Paqg*

Dr Sanaa Shalan appears immediately as a strong, successful, articulate and proud
young woman. Sanaa is a highly respected professor of Arabic literature at the
University of Jordan. At only 27, she is a renowned writer who has won 32 awards,
among them the Al-Shariga Award for Arabic creativity for the story The Nightmare
and the first Young Author Award of the Abd-Al-Muhsin Qatan Association for her
short story collection Aina Khader:

Butabove all Sanaa is a Palestinian refugee. She has a promising successful carreer
in Amman, but she does not forget where she comes from and she strongly speaks
about her identity as a Palestinian.

When asked if she knows the story of her family, she promptly answers: “of
course, we know everything. Our grandfather told us about the house, where the
keys are, how many rooms and how many chickens we had. We know it by heart
because we consider these stories as sacred.” One of her grandmothers recently
passed away, but over the years she had continued to tell the story of the family
to the younger generations.

Her family comes from Beit Nattif, a village located around 20 kilometres southwest
of Hebron. Her grandfather was a carpenter, and now “everybody in the family is
fond of wood; some learned how to work it and my father is in the wood business.” Her mother’s side of
the family is from the same village: “people used to marry from the same village so that the lands once
returned will stay in the same families.”

During the Nabka, in 1948, the village was ethnically cleansed and completely destroyed. There was some
fighting and some of Sanaa’s family members were killed. As many refugees, they did not have time to
take many of their belongings as they were convinced that they would go back after a few days.

Subsequently, the family came to Jordan, rented a piece of land in Madaba not far from Amman, and started
to cultivate the land. “Imagine that they were keeping some grains for their land in Palestine.” Then they
moved to Al-Karama camp, close to the Jordan Valley. But during the 1967 war, they were forced to flee
once again because the camp was being shelled by the Israeli army so they went to Amman.

Sanaa was born in 1978 in Sweileh and grew up in Amman, among a family of 11 sisters and brothers, all
of whom pursued higher education. At the early age of seven Sanaa started to write, and one of her teachers
predicted that she would become a writer. At nine years old she wrote her first novel called Unknown
Steps. Being already very well aware of her Palestinian identity, the subject of this story was the return to
Palestine. She had a strong personality. She recalled how she spoke out when a high-ranking representative
of UNRWA came to the school to give out some gifts. She protested in front of everybody and asked: “how
can you give us some gifts when you [the UN] are the ones responsible for our misery?”’ She was slapped.
She continued her education and developed her writing skills. At the age of 19 she published her first book
and at 20 she won her first award. She specialized in criticism, novels, plays and children’s stories. She
also has a regular column in the Jordanian daily newspaper A/-Dustour. In 2005, she was given the trophy
of the Jordan University President for outstanding student in academia and creativity. At 26 she obtained
her PhD in modern criticism and Arabic literature and began her work as a professor. Her carreer is a way
to pursue her passion for literature: “I am related to the language, it is my identity.”

Depopulated village of Beit Natiff,
2007. (©BADIL)

Beit Natiff. Standing on a high, flat-
topped ridge between two broad
valleys, this ancient village was sur-
rounded by olive groves and fields of
corn, planted by the over 2400 villag-
ers, in the valleys below. The village
was attacked by the Israeli Har’el bri-
gade on 21 October 1948 as part of
Operation ha-Har, and its occupation
enabled the army to block the Bethle-
hem-'Ajjur-Beit Jibrin Road. All of its
inhabitants were ethnically cleansed
in the operation, and most reside
in the refugee camps of Bethlehem
(Dheisheh, ‘Azzah, ‘Aida). Al of the
buildings in the village were com-
pletely destroyed, with only rubble
remaining, on which the Israeli colo-
nies of Neliv ha-Lamed-He, Avi'ezer,
Roglit, and Newe Mikha'el were built.
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Sanaa receiving one of her 32
literary awards.
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Sanaa has never been to Palestine. Nobody in her family has been
able to, especially since a member of her family became a martyr
in 1981 as he tried to enter Israel through the Golan Heights. Since
then, none of her family members has been able to get an entry
permit. As with most Palestinian refugees, they have all become
“persona non grata” in their own country.

Even if she can not visit Palestine, Sanaa has Palestine at heart.
She has become very active and been involved with Palestinian
organisations. She has just finished writing a collection of stories
for Al Qattan foundation, entitled Aina Khader, on the question of
martyrdom. Next summer, she will visit the US to meet some other
refugees and write their stories.

Together with another writer, she has built a website called “those
who dance for emptiness” gathering resources on writers of
Palestinian origin, and whose Palestinian origin is often unknown.
Something similar happened to her. One time, Sanaa was invited
to receive an award and the speaker declared that there was no

Palestinian writer in the gathering, she immediately stood up and said that even if she has a Jordanian
passport, she is indeed Palestinian.

As a refugee she always feels like a second class citizen, “when I travel I always have problems. They
always put me aside and ask me more questions just because I am Palestinian. If I am treated that way,
how is it for an ordinary person? It is really shameful.” Even at the University of Jordan she cannot freely
express herself and introduce herself as a Palestinian refugee, although she always finds indirect ways.

She also strongly states, “I am fed up with telling people that we have rights. Why do I have to waste

my time defending myself as if I am a criminal? Why do two or three generations have to be wasted?

Why should I get married and have kids if they have to end up killed by the Israelis? Why cant I live as

other people?” The Palestinian history and current situation affects her : “when [ think of the Nakba, it
is painful. Before I used to feel sorry, but nowadays the situation is getting worse with all the killings;
the organized and systematic killings of my people.”

She does not believe in the current peace process, “we have been talking with them [the Israelis] for

many years, and we have nothing to show for it. The only peace will be when we will be able to return.

The Palestinians should be able to form a viable Palestinian state and Israel should admit responsibility

Jor all the crimes committed against the Palestinians.” She thinks that despite the fact that many people
are supportive of the Palestinians, the governments are not, “all the countries will come to celebrate the

60™ anniversary of the creation of Israel and nobody will stand with the Palestinian suffering.”

But she still feels hopeful for the future. She hopes that she will be able to return. She refers to a Palestinian
saying “the soil of the land always craves its owner.” Her hope also lies in the strength of the Palestinian
people who all over the world keep their strength and their distinctive identity and always make a priority
of developing and educating themselves, “ifthey let us come back, we have everything in the community.

We have qualified people to build Palestine again. We are ready.”

* Anne Paq is a photographer member of activestills (activestills.org) and human rights specialist. She
concentrates her work on refugees, human rights violations in the OPT and the impact of the occupation
on peoples’lives. See her blog: http://chroniquespalestine.blogspot.com



Not for Sale
Mohammed Awni Obeid - Cairo, Egypt

By Serene Assir*

Mohammed Awni Obeid is one of 70,000-100,000
Palestinian refugees living in Egypt.! The majority of -
refugees in Egypt fled Palestine during the 1967 war. In
the first years the Egyptian state, under President Gamal
Abdel-Nasser, Palestinians were granted equal treatment il
to Egyptians. But his successor President Anwar Al-Sadat,
and to a much greater extent the current President Hosni
Mubarak, gradually withdrew the privileges conferred to
Palestinian refugees. Now, second and third-generation
refugees born and living in Egypt are barred from obtaining
permanent resident status in Egypt, and rely on their
employment to maintain their residency status. UNRWA
does not operate in Egypt, and only recently have some
Palestinians started to receive assistance from UNHCR.

Each human life is different from the next. But because Palestinians in Egypt constitute so
small a group in proportion to the country’s population of 80 million, and because ties between
Palestinian refugees in Egypt are weak, it is particularly the case in Egypt that finding social
networks between Palestinian refugees and similarities in their stories is difficult. Perhaps the
main common factors, however, are the difficulty involved in becoming regularised, and of
living a life which is caught between marginalisation and integration.

“The truth is that we will never be accepted here. I was born here, and I speak the Egyptian
dialect with just as much ease as the Palestinian. In fact I grew up speaking it. But we will
always be marginal, and the Egyptians have a hard time understanding us,” according to Obeid.
Originally from Al-Majdal, where his family was expelled in the 1948 Nakba, Obeid’s father
obtained his degree in Iraq after he was expelled for a second time from Gaza in 1967. He
then moved along with his mother to Egypt to join a Palestinian military squadron that was
part of the Egyptian army. Deployed to Lebanon during the Lebanese civil war, he was killed
there when the jeep he was riding in drove over an unexploded bomb. Mohammed was eight
years old then. He is now 34.

What follows is Obeid’s story, told in his own words.

I was born in Masr El-Gedida, a suburban district of Cairo. I completed high school here. Only
one other boy at school was Palestinian. I remember he and I felt strange, because we spoke
exactly like all the other children did, and yet we were expected to feel different because we
were Palestinian. We used to think back then, why us? Why did it have to be us?

Anyhow, once I had graduated from high school I had to come up with other options. I missed
a year in the process. I couldn’t go on to university in Egypt because Palestinians were not
allowed to at the time. Instead, because I had an uncle living in Pakistan, I decided to accept
his offer of help and went on to study telecommunications engineering at the University of
Engineering and Technology in Lahore. Because it wasn’t an Arab state, I was treated just
as any foreigner would be. This felt good. It was a change from Egypt. But at the same time,

Great mosque in the depopulated
town of Al-Majdal (source:
palestineremembered.com)

Al-Majdal. A bustling coastal town of
just under 11,500 people, Al-Majdal
is the place after which this publica-
tion is named. The vast majority of
the townspeople were forced out by
Israeli aerial and marine bombard-
ment as part of Operation Yoav in
November 1948, while many of those
who were able to stay were later
driven out through a combination of
military force and administrative mea-
sures under the Israeli Emergency
Laws that targetted Palestinian citi-
zens of the newly established state.
Thousands of newly arrived Jewish
immigrants were settled in Al-Majdal
under its new name: Ashkelon, while
the original inhabitants had ended up
only a few miles away in the refugee
camps of the Gaza Strip.

Mohammed
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though Pakistanis professed to sympathise with Palestinians, sympathy was often symbolic.
Still, I met my wife there, and she lives with me here in Egypt now.

I returned from Pakistan aged 27. The main reason I returned was because I had to be with
my mother. My siblings were, and still are, all abroad. My sisters live in Saudi Arabia and
Germany, while my brother returned to Gaza with the ultimately shattered hope of obtaining
his rights. We haven’t seen my brother in almost eight years now.

I work as an IT specialist, and through the companies I work for I obtain a residence permit,
which I need to renew every three years, as long as I am still working. To be honest, I don’t
have any issue with the legal arrangements in Egypt. Like any other country, Egypt is free to
run its legal affairs as it chooses. However, I can tell you that it feels extremely degrading,
given that I was born and raised here, that [ am unable to be treated as anything other than a
foreigner, and a second-class foreigner at that. For this reason, I am determined to leave here
as soon as I can, preferably to work in the West.

I'will always visit Egypt, because I have friends here. But I cannot let my children, Ramin and
Yousef, suffer the way I have. And if we stay here it is guaranteed that they will.

I think if we look at the Palestinians of Lebanon, we find far more obvious problems. They
live in poverty, and are barred from many professions. They are physically marginalised by
their presence in the camps. In Egypt, this is not the case. But the pressure is psychological.
Egyptians were taught in school that Palestinians sold their land, that we are traitors and that
our lot is of our own doing. It takes time to break the prejudices, even in daily life. Once
closeness is established, it becomes easier. I have made good friends in spite of the initial
mistrust. At the same time, we don’t have, as Palestinians, a strong network here, unlike the
Palestinians in Lebanon or Syria. It is difficult to get to know other Palestinians, so I am led
to feel isolated from both camps — the Palestinian and the Egyptian. At the end of the day, our
problem relates to our paperwork. As a non-Egyptian, I cannot change that. So I just figure
that it’s better just to leave.

As for Palestine, we used to visit every year up until the outbreak of the first Intifada. Then
our visits became forbidden. But I remember it well. Palestine is the most beautiful piece
of land on the planet — this is clear to any visitor. I visited the whole of historic Palestine,
including Gaza, Haifa, Yaffa and Jerusalem. If Palestine is liberated tomorrow I would go
back immediately. I would return to Al-Majdal — to the land that my grandfather owned and
whose proof of ownership he showed me. I would not want to live anywhere else. That is my
family’s home.

I am not, however, like many other Palestinians. I don’t talk about the Palestinian cause very
much, and I don’t intend on teaching my children much about politics. I believe God put me on
this Earth to live — not to die. When Adam and Eve came to Earth, did they have nationalities?
No. We have made countries, not God. What I see for the future is not good though. The way
Israel is behaving in the West Bank and Gaza, it tells me that Israel wants the Palestinians
there to leave too. In the future, many more Palestinians will start to leave. This is especially
true for Gaza, where most residents are refugees and don’t have roots in Gaza. It is only when
the United States collapses as the only superpower in the world that perhaps we can start to
imagine a solution.

But on the long run, I know that Palestine will return. History is always changing. Maybe it
could be a country of mixed identities, and so long as everybody has equal rights I don’t think



this would be bad. This is because the other scenario is horrible, and would involve a second
genocide of the Jews or of us. At the end of the day, either way it is unacceptable. The way
Israel was invented means it will not last. Palestine will return. Maybe people need to start to
accept this, and work towards what is good.

As for the UN — the UN is the US, so long as the Security Council has so much power and
the US abuses its seat. I don’t expect help from the UN, or other nations. When it comes, I
say thank you. But how can we expect help from other countries when we Palestinians are
not helping ourselves? We are not united. So how can I blame the others for our disunity? It
is true that Israel is responsible for sowing disunity among the Palestinians — but it is our fault
that we have fallen into that trap. From the news, it seems very hard for us to regain our unity
at this point. There are also other agendas, including the US, the EU, the Syrian and Iranian
agendas. But I know it is weak to blame the others. The others have exploited our weaknesses
and our disunity. Our unity is our responsibility to maintain. It is a given that any country in
the world that has power will conspire.

So for us Palestinians, our unity should be our national goal. Maybe in the future there will be
unity. Now we do not have this, but this will change, as everything in history does.

Maybe it is because of this that I don’t invest any hope in politics. I would emotionally support
activists, but I would not do anything alongside them. I want to raise my children. But at the
same time, I am clear on one thing: I will not accept compensation instead of my right of
return. Accepting that would mean I am willing to sell Palestine. It is absurd, the idea of selling
Palestine. No, I will never sell Palestine.

* Serene Assir is a Lebanese journalist based in Cairo

Endnotes

1) It is difficult to determine precisely how many Palestinians live in Egypt because many live here without
documentation and are unregistered with any agency.

2) For those Palestinians who are not working, not only is residence unobtainable but it also becomes
impossible to renew the “wathiqa,” (Palestinian travel document). For the overwhelming majority of
Palestinians here, the “wathiqa” represents the only form of permanent proof of identity.
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Architect in Exile

Mahmoud Kaddoura — Toronto, Canada

by Hazem Jamjoum*

“Our lives became so much more complicated when
Saddam’s Iraq invaded Kuwait”

Having been born and raised in Kuwait, Mahmoud’s
perception of his being a Palestinian refugee revolved
around his father’s stories about their village of Suhmata
and its people, the pools, the castle and the stories of his
childhood visits to Balbaak’s Thakanet Ghoro (Gouraud)
refugee camp. He would also hear about ‘Fin El-Hilweh,
the refugee camp in Sidon where his mother was raised.
“In Kuwait, it was very normal for you to be Palestinian
or Yemeni or Indian, or indeed from anywhere in the world
since most of the labor done in that country came from
elsewhere.”

Depopulated village of Suhmata
(source: palestineremembered.com)

Suhmata. The ethnic cleansing of
Palestine was well under way when
Israel's Golani brigade began its bom-
bardment of the village of Suhmata in
late October 1948. The over 1100 in-
habitants of the village were expelled
to Lebanon and Syria with only a tiny
proportion of the villagers managing
to stay in their country. Around 600
of the people of Suhmata are Israeli
citizens today, with the colonies of
Tzuri'el and Chosen, as well as part
of the Israeli city Ma'alot built on the
village lands. At the beginning of
January 2008, the Israeli Northern
District Planning and Building Com-
mittee announced new plans to con-
struct yet another new neighborhood
east of Ma’alot on Suhmata’s confis-
cated lands. The neighborhood will
consist of an estimated 3500 hous-
ing units, annexing what remains of
Suhmata’s lands. Internally displaced
Suhmatans have set up a website for
the people of the village, and have
launched a campaign to prevent
Ma'alot's expansion on what remains
of their village lands. For more see
http://www.suhmata.com

Newlyweds: Mahmoud and Nadia.
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Years later when Mahmoud lived in Lebanon, the grandfather he was named after would
tell him long stories of his days working at the Akka docks, about his memories in Suhmata,
the road to Safad, the agricultural school that they took so much pride in having despite
the village’s small size, the neighboring towns of Tarshiha, Al-Jish and Deir Al-Qasi that
everyone had relatives in, and about how many of the men and women of Suhmata organized
themselves into popular resistance committees in 1948 to try to prevent their expulsion at
the hands of the Zionists.

Although they were not rich, the lives of the Kaddouras in Kuwait was comfortable, especially
compared to what people underwent in Lebanon in those wretched years of the Israeli
occupation, Lebanese civil war, and the war of the camps. Then came August 2, 1990 and Iraq’s
invasion of Kuwait. Daily life turned into a quest for the basic needs of survival; queuing for
endless hours to get the meager rations of bread, cooking gas, drinking water, and whatever
was available for the month.

Everyone who could leave left, including the Kuwaitis themselves. Those that stayed did
so out of necessity; either they did not have the means to leave, or they were from Gaza
or Lebanon; places that were in an even worse condition than Kuwait. Most brutal was the
uncertainty, stories of Iraqi soldiers abusing Kuwaitis began to spread, and news of the US
amassing allies and troops at Kuwait’s doorstep in preparation for war made it clear that the
worst was yet to come.

“For those of us in Kuwait, 1991 was another Palestinian Nakba like ‘48, 67 and ‘82”

Even before the war, the idea that Palestinians were no longer welcome had begun to surface.
In 1975 Kuwait stopped granting entry permits to Palestinians with refugee documents mainly
from Lebanon. That year Mahmoud’s uncle Mustafa was supposed to start work in Kuwait and
obtained a work permit to do so, but while at the airport discovered that he would not be allowed
entry as the new law had come into effect. Later, a Kuwaiti law was passed that effectively
stripped foreigners including Palestinians of residency rights once they turned eighteen, unless
they were enrolled at the University of Kuwait, however only Kuwaitis were accepted into that
university unless they had very good connections or ranked the highest in the country. This



was affecting the family since Mahmoud’s older sister Leena was to start high school, and
the family had to think of a place for her to go once she graduated. Another law was that any
non-Kuwaiti whose salary was less than 300 Dinars was not allowed to marry; so “ultimately
Egyptians went back to Egypt, Pakistanis to Pakistan, where were we supposed to go?”

There was also the palpable bond between Palestinians and Iraqis in Kuwait; “when the Iraqi
football team would come to play in Kuwait, half of those who came out to cheer them would
be Palestinians.” The leadership of the PLO was playing a very risky, and ultimately disastrous,
game in taking a strong official position endorsing Saddam Hussein in the war with the US
and its allies. As a result, and despite some Palestinians playing important roles in training and
supporting Kuwaitis fighting against the Iraqi occupation, Kuwait began to see Palestinians as
part and parcel of the Saddam regime, indeed many Palestinians had rejoiced when Saddam
entered Kuwait, and many were supporters of his regime because he was against Israel.

Within weeks of the February 27, 1991 liberation of Kuwait, Kuwaiti militant groups had been
formed both unofficially by local warlords and by the state itself. Iraqis, Palestinians, Sudanis,
and Yemenis were the “four nationalities” targeted by these groups with more than the mere
complicity of the regular Kuwaiti security apparatus. It also became known that people from
various communities were collaborating with Kuwaitis, informing on anyone who hosted Iraqi
soldiers in their homes or even offered them a glass of water during the days of the occupation.
Mahmoud began to notice and hear of disappearances from the Palestinian community and
several Palestinians’ bodies had been found tortured and killed. Abdallah Abdun, a very kind
and generous Sudanese man who was a very close friend of the family had sent his wife and
daughter back to Sudan to wait for him while he got his affairs in order

before leaving himself was intentionally run over by a car that had chased
him. What made it particularly difficult for Palestinians was the lack of
any kind of representative that could follow up on these cases. Mahmoud
admits that “until today, I don’t know if anyone is even asking about what
happened to those who disappeared during those horrible days.”

Mahmoud’s father began to seriously consider moving the family to
Lebanon, despite the horror stories that were reaching Kuwait from
Lebanon. He planned to wait for compensation from work in order to
be able to afford the move, and hoped that in the meantime the situation
would quiet down in Lebanon. During this period, Mahmoud and his
friend were randomly and with no reason, other than their Palestinian
identity, arrested by militants and beaten mercilessly for most of
the day. It was clear that they would be killed, and at one point they
overheard that they were indeed to be taken to a desolate area and
executed. Luckily for the two young men, one of their neighbors had
told their families about the kidnapping and the families had gone to
people they knew in the government and the allied military, which in
turn showed up at the scene and prevented the executions from taking
place. Their captors were released immediately with no charges laid,
while the two Palestinians were then handed over to an official state
prison where they were further interrogated about their connections

to the Iraqi occupation, and ultimately set free when none were found.
With his son bruised from head to toe, Mahmoud’s father could no longer postpone the
relocation of his family to Lebanon.

“In the 1990s as in the 1980s, we Palestinians were the most vulnerable group in Lebanon”
Life in Lebanon was very difficult at first. There was not enough room for the newly arrived

Mahmoud helped design and
build a larger than life Handala [a
character created by Palestinian
refugee cartoonist Naji Al-Ali] for
the second ever Palestine float at
the annual Labor Day Parade in
Toronto, Canada.
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One of Mahmoud's innovative architectural designs. Avenue Road, Toronto, Canada.

family in relatives’ homes, so Mahmoud and his brother joined his aunt’s family ending up
in a Kharroub juice factory building with another five families. Throughout the civil war,
these families had sought refuge there from Tal El-Za’tar camp, Al-Damur (Lebanon), Al-
Rashdiyyah camp, and Tyre. His mother, two sisters and two younger brothers stayed in Sidon
at his grandmother’s home.

After six months passed, and with Mahmoud’s father reunited with the family, they were able
to acquire an apartment in Sidon with a Lebanese sponsor. Mahmoud and his siblings enrolled
at the school in ‘Ein El-Hilweh camp. There was great concern over how they would be able
to afford enrollment at university. While the two older siblings, Lina and Fadi, enrolled in
UNRWA’s Seblin Vocational School, Mahmoud went to the Beirut Arab University, and he
was only able to do so with the help of his aunts and the PLO’s Palestinian Students Fund.
“This fund was perhaps the most important thing set up by the PLO for young Palestinians,
some of my friends were fully dependent on it. I hear that its services are now dwindling and
that it is under-funded, this is a disaster. I can easily say that it would have been impossible
for us to continue our studies without it.”

The 1990s were a time when the Islamist currents were hegemonic, “which made sense because
what we saw of resistance to Israel and the US was carried out by Islamic currents, whether
by Hizbollah in Lebanon or Hamas in Palestine.” The main issue was the peace process, and
a rift developed between those for and against the Oslo agreements and its ramifications.

“Those defending Oslo would say that it would provide us with a launching ground to liberate
the rest of Palestine, as if Arafat was engaged in a strategy where he would somehow trick
the US and Israel, those people were very embarrassed when the Agsa Intifada erupted and
construction of the apartheid wall began. Those from the Islamic currents saw Oslo as a way
of getting the Palestinian leadership into Palestine to do Israel’s dirty work and repress the
Islamic resistance. I remember people talked about how it was a conspiracy to resettle the
refugees, every time someone saw a new housing project being built they would report that it



was to permanently resettle us there, or if a high ranking foreign official would visit, it was to
discuss ways to get rid of the right of return. Some put a lot of emphasis on making sure they
had their UNRWA ration cards to prove that they were refugees in case compensation was
going to be paid out.”

Mahmoud experienced a significant shift in his perception of Palestine with the advent of
satellite television broadcasts and the internet, especially when he moved to Beirut to study
architecture in 1995, and even more when he moved to Australia to complete his Masters
degree. “Haifa, Akka, Nazareth, Umm El-Fahem were places from my grandfather s stories
or from patriotic poems, now I could see live pictures of them. More shocking was seeing Tel
Aviv, and seeing Israeli civilian politicians on television; I began to see Israel and Israelis as
not being only soldiers at checkpoints shooting kids, but as a real colonial settlement project,
they had kicked us out and saw themselves as being in Palestine to stay.” Another important
thing for me was based on remembering West Bank Palestinians in Kuwait who would hear
our accents and call us Lebanese, through satellite TV I saw people like Azmi Bishara and
Jamal Zahalka who spoke with the same accents as us, and they were there, in the towns and
villages we were kicked out of, and they were talking about our return, and about preserving
and developing their Palestinian identity.”

While in Australia, Mahmoud supplemented whatever support he could get from his family
by working at a convenience store. He would communicate regularly with people in Palestine
through the internet, which is how he met Nadia, and the two would soon fall in love. Upon
graduation, he discovered that he could not stay in Australia. He returned to Lebanon, where the
situation of Palestinian youths was, as it continues to be, very difficult. With very little in the
way of job opportunities most young Palestinian men looked for a way to find a way to leave
Lebanon, and Mahmoud was no exception. He got the chance to immigrate to Canada, a place
where he could also arrange to meet Nadia and ask for her hand, and so it was that in 2005 he
arrived in Toronto. It is here that Mahmoud’s talent as an artist and architect have been able
to flourish as he completes project after project of some of the most innovative architectural
designs around the country, and it is here that he was finally able to unite with his sweetheart
after years of phone calls and internet conversations.

As we end our conversation talking about the projects he has worked on, Mahmoud tells me
“while things are finally looking good for me, I still feel a sense of hollowness since I do not have
the chance to use my skills and research to help build my own country and people. Wherever
I have lived, Palestinians have been the most vulnerable with no one to really represent and
protect us; look at what's happening to Palestinians in Iraq and Nahr El-Bared camp. My
dream is to live in a place that I belong to culturally; geographically, politically; to feel a
part of it; and to use whatever skills and resources I have as an architect and as a person to
make it a free and thriving place. Even though I have never been allowed to be there, I know
that the only place that I can feel and do this is Palestine.”

*Hazem Jamjoum is the English Information-Media Officer at Badil. You can contact him at
mediaenglish@badil.org
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Stealing the River, ‘Trespassing’ on Our Own Land

Hussein and Ghada Mubaraki (father and daughter) - Abu Snaan, 1948 Palestine

By Isabelle Humphries*

Depopulated village of Al-Nahr.
(source: palestineremembered.com)

Al-Nahr. Fourteen kilometers north-east
of Akka stands a tall palm tree on the
site of what was once the small village of
Al-Nahr. Nearby one can see the remains
of two of the village houses, a grave that
was part of the village cemetery, and
the cactus and fig trees that remind the
passerby that Palestinians lived here.
Al-Nahr (the river), together with its twin
village Al-Tall (the hill) and several other
villages in the area were destroyed and
depopulated on 20-21 May 1948 in the
second phase of Operation Ben-Ami. Ac-
cording to Israeli historian Benny Morris,
the commander of the Carmeli Brigade
that executed this operation ordered his
battalion commanders to “attack in order
to conquer, to kil among the men, to
destroy and burn the villages of Al-Kabri,
Umm al-Faraj and Al-Nahr”. According
to Morris, this razing of the villages was
done “both to punish the villagers... and to
make sure the villagers could and would
never return.” [Morris (1987), The Birth of
the Palestinian Refugee Problem, 1947-
1949. Cambridge Univ. Press, p.125]
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What did military government mean? The military rule
was made because of the people who fled... If there wasn t
military rule we could have gone home. They made the
military government so that all people were [permanently]
exiled from their villages. - Hussein Mubaraki

Like approximately 300,000 other Palestinian refugees,
Hussein Mubaraki and his daughter Ghada live within a
few kilometres of their family village. Classified as ‘Present
Absentees’, while free to live in Israel, the Mubaraki family
are not allowed to live on their ancestral lands in the village
of Al-Nahr in the Western Galilee.

Between 1948 and 1966 all Palestinians remaining in the
new Jewish state lived under military rule, bound by curfews and geographic limits just as the
Palestinians of the 1967 occupied territory are today. Permission to go beyond such boundaries
— even to visit family — required lengthy waits for permits which were very often refused. It
was this tight military enclosure — resulting in the killing, injury and imprisonment of those
who dared to trespass — that prevented the return of the refugees, even those carrying Israeli
ID cards and citizenship.

Ghada was born in 1958, 10 years after the occupation, in the coastal town of Akka. With
the vast majority of the original Palestinians of Akka displaced to Lebanon or further afield,
in 1958 many of the Palestinians in Akka were internally displaced like the Mubarak family.
The inhabitants were crowded into the Old City as Jewish immigrants moved into the homes
of the depopulated newer neighborhoods.

There was never a time when Ghada was unaware of where her father Hussein’s family was
from. She grew up on stories of al-Nahr, its water (the name means river in Arabic), its fertile
lands, the orange trees. And with that were the indescribable memories. Her aunt, her father’s
younger sister, was only 12 years old as they fled the village. She was carrying the youngest
brother, a newborn, an uncle whom Ghada would never get to know; for as they fled the child
was shot in its older sister’s arms. Like many families taking flight, they had no choice but
to bury the baby and carry on their way.

Sitting on his sofa in Abu Snaan village Hussein pulls out photocopies of the title deeds (tabo)
to his family land, his first Israeli identity card which named his place of birth as al-Nahr
in Hebrew script, and even correspondence of his father with British Mandate Authorities.
Hussein Mubaraki has kept all the evidence of the 77 dunams of orchards and arable land
that they owned within the 6000 dunam village.

Unlike the village of Saffuriyya (see Ziad Awaisy profile), only a handful of al-Nahr’s
inhabitants managed to remain in the Galilee. I ask Hussein why he thinks his father Ali did
not end up in Lebanon.



The people who were old back then they said this — ‘There were

people when the Turkish came here, and the people remained in
their homes. And when they waved the white flag...there wasn t
aproblem... And the Turkish went and the British came and the
people who raised a white flag stayed in their homes. When the
Jewish came they recognized neither white nor black flag! They
wanted the land. Why?-to bring the Jews from outside.

In early months and years, Palestinians on either side of the
border did not know what would happen — a new war? New
expulsions? There were indeed further expulsions — in 1949
some 700 refugees were forced onto trucks in Kafr Yassif by
the army. Hussein’s parents were taken from their shelter in Abu Snaan village (next to Kafr Yassif)
and placed behind the iron fence in which refugees to be deported were gathered. It was only after
intervention by a local leader that they were some of the lucky few who escaped this transfer.

Even in such frightening circumstances, people continued to resist in whatever way they could, even
if it meant, as in the case of many political activists, that they risked their own expulsion.

In Kafr Yassif there were communists. When they put the people in the army trucks they came out
and lay down in front of the trucks to prevent them from sending people away... [But to no avail]
we were just 150,000 Arabs left here then...

Ghada was brought up hearing the story of how in the first months of exile, her grandfather watched
as bulldozers dug up his trees before his own eyes. Her grandfather and father, like all Palestinians
remaining in Israel, were forced into the only work available — manual labour for Jewish employers
— in their case being forced to work on their own land for the benefit of Jewish companies.

You saw our land today? Did you see the bananas? They make gold from our land — that’s land
with water! They came from Europe and it was free for them! They took our land and now I must
buy bananas and eggs from them!! We pay money for the fruits of our land! He's a king and we
are nothing.

The words of her grandfather and his watching of the destruction of “our land” echo today in
Ghada’s head as we get out of the car and stand at a locked gate trying to reach the land which is
now deemed ‘private’.

‘How did he feel as he stood here back then? I shiver when I think of it... All his life he kept the

‘tabo’[land deed] and he said; “Take care after I die that it'’s your right, this land is your right, it s
for you, for all the family; maybe one day they'll give it back to us. It was his dream you know that
maybe he would come back one day to his village.”

Under military rule the only day of the year that Palestinians in Israel were allowed to roam the
land freely was the day of their Nakba — the day when Israelis celebrate ‘independence’. As a child
she recalls the whole family going to drink water from the stream and to pick fruit on this day.
Her grandmother would describe every part of the land to her — where they slept, where they ate,
where they sat.

And then one day the family came and discovered that the water had been diverted to the
neighbouring moshav (Israeli agricultural settlement). In the early 1970s — although military rule
over Palestinian citizens had ended, Israel found other ways of keeping the refugees from even

Hussein Mubaraki (father), Ghada
Mubaraki (daughter), al-Nahr.

P
s
1aV\
b ,«"
____P_:.- _..j

Hussein Mubaraki — first identity
papers in new Jewish state name
place of birth, al-Nahr.
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visiting, let alone returning, to their lands and villages. One Nakba Day visit, internally
displaced villagers of al-Nahr found a locked gate and soldiers barring their way.

How the people cried when they stopped us.... They didn t let us go inside. 1was about 11 or
12 years... at that age how I felt sad... I belonged to this place... Even though I wasn t born
here, but I felt that they had taken something from me, it’s my right, this land is my right.

Although born a decade after the Nakba, the village was always something that belonged to
Ghada. She watched her father greeting the other people of the village whenever he saw them,
always talking about life in al-Nahr. She recalls as a young girl becoming angry and shouting
at her father — ‘Coward — why did you leave our village?” And then my father explained to
me slowly and quietly how they had no choice — there was nothing they could do.’

Despite the end of the military rule that her parents had suffered, growing up in Akka and
attending school in the 1970s was not an easy time. Born into an Egyptian family living in
Akka during the British Mandate, Ghada’s mother Nefisa was active in the Communist Party

Colours of wall paintings still remain
on the one house left partially
standing in the village, Beit Afifi.

Nakba Special Issue

during the 1950s, leading women’s demonstrations and at times arrested for her activities.
With the example of her mother and father, Ghada learned about Palestine, the Nakba and
to struggle for her rights as a Palestinian in Israel — yet she quickly realised this was something that
many of their neighbours were too frightened to do.

They [her parents with the Communists] went to all the houses and said ‘Don t put your vote for the
Zionist parties.’ People - they were afraid you know and they didn't like ... the Communist people...
And my mother she visited people, she tried to convince them not to be afraid of the Israelis. And that’s
how she was — very strong.

Under pressure and threats from all sides - from Israeli security police to charities to Jewish employers
- Palestinians in Israel were subjected to a new Israeli second-class identity. Those who questioned it
faced severe penalties. Enrolling at the Terra Sancta school in Akka, the young Ghada discovered that
she would be punished for even saying that she was from al-Nahr — “You are an Israeli!’ she was told
sharply by the headteacher. History teachers could not teach about Palestine (and still can’t) — teachers
with Communist affiliations knew they could be fired. Ghada recalls demonstrations when two teachers
were dismissed by the Ministry of Education for ‘political activity’.

Despite the dangers, politics and Palestine were always part of her life. Demonstrations and strikes
continued — ‘I remember so many’ — from a funeral parade for Egyptian leader Nasser, to protesting
assassinations of Palestinian leaders to a march against the Akka visit of Meir Kahane, a Zionist leader
who advocated the transfer of the Palestinians who remained.

Married to a fellow activist in Nazareth, sadly Ghada was widowed at a young age and returned with her
young son to live with her parents. By this stage her family had moved to Abu Snaan village — a village
which was home to many internal refugees and crucially for Hussein, where he could buy a small piece
of land which was impossible in Akka. ‘For him he missed the land, to be part of it.”

Today Ghada’s son, Hussein and Nefisa’s grandchild, lives in Sweden. But Ghada has no doubt that he
will always know where he comes from, his heritage and his rights. For this is what she brought him
up to know and to struggle for.

* Isabelle Humphries has worked with various Palestinian human rights NGOs on both sides of the Green

Line and is currently completing doctoral research on internally displaced Palestinian refugees. Contact:

isabellebh2004@yahoo.co.ul
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The Home of My Youth

Charles Tarazi - New York and London, United States and England

By Claudia Pena*

In 1948, Palestine was beautiful and vibrant. There
were fields of olive trees, people everywhere, much
commerce, and a thriving society. Palestinian culture
was rich in its food, familial traditions, music and dance.
Muslims, Christians and Jews lived side by side , all part
of the same social fabric.

Charles Tarazi was twelve years old when his family
could no longer stay safe in Palestine. Zionist terrorism
was rampant- assassinations were out of control and
several massacres had already taken place. One day,
the Irgun terrorist group blew up a British military
encampment near Charles’ sister’s catholic boarding
school in downtown Haifa. Their vantage point from
the house made it seem as if the school had been bombed because smoke careened off
the rooftop. It wasn’t until the end of the day that they found out his sister was safe. His
parents decided it was time for them to flee the danger.

Along with his mother, brother and sister, Charles took a long and arduous trip by train
and traveled through Gaza, Rafah and the Sinai until they reached Egypt a day and half
later. Though his father had been the Deputy Head of the Municipality of Haifa and the
family enjoyed the comforts of middle-class status, Egypt only offered Charles’ father
unemployment and heartache. In fact, Palestinians were denied employment until the
Egyptian Revolution in 1952. Luckily, they had friends and family in Egypt who helped
keep them afloat through the most difficult times.

Upon arrival in Egypt, the Tarazis thought they would return to Palestine within a few
months. They never expected that 60 years later, there would still be no return in sight
for Palestinian refugees. They had faith in the United Nations and the superpowers and
believed a resolution would be reached. In May, when word of the Isracli Declaration
of Independence reached Egypt, Charles remembers people were upset... yet they still
hoped.

As the years wore on, it was difficult to retain that hope. At age 22, Charles left Egypt by
convincing United States Senator Thye of Minnesota that he qualified for a visa under the
1957 Immigration and Nationality Act otherwise known as the Refugee-Escapee Act. The
Senator wrote a letter on Charles’ behalf and soon thereafter, the United States Consulate
in Cairo contacted Charles with the good news.

Though Charles was interested in engineering, he felt as if he didn’t have a choice to pursue
his true aspirations and instead needed to take advantage of what was available. So, he went
into commerce. After hitting the pavement in a bitterly cold, selfish and inhospitable New
York January, he finally found employment in the metal business. Several years later, he
fell in love, married and had three daughters. Though his daughters are American/British
citizens, they have always been taught about their Palestinian heritage.

General view of Haifa in 1935.
(source: palestineremembered.com)

Haifa. One of Palestine’s major port
cities, with its own airport, oil refinery,
and tobacco, fishing, textile, grain, ice,
soap, and other industries, Haifa was
a booming town and the birthplace of
the Palestinian labor movement in the
1920s. The city also boasted three Ara-
bic newspapers, and according to many
accounts, its Palestinian-Arab majority
and substantial Jewish community had
established bonds of friendship and com-
mradery. The Zionist plan to takeover the
city, Operation Misbarayim (scissors),
was implemented on April 21-23, and
consisted of dividing the historic city into
three parts beginning with the Jewish
neighborhood, and systematically depop-
ulating each of the three Arab neighbor-
hoods, pushing many of the inhabitants
into the sea. This was done under the
watchful eye of British troops, who not
only stood idly by in neglect of their duty
to protect the lives and properties of the
city’s civilians, but actively helped Zionist
forces isolate the Palestinian resistance
in the city, turning back 300 fighters from
nearby Al-Tira who aimed to reinforce the
city's crumbling defences. As part of the
prior agreement between David Ben Gu-
rion and King Abdullah of Jordan, nearby
Jordanian troops were given strict orders
not to come to the aid of the city.

Out of the 61,000 Palestinian Arabs who
used to call Haifa home, only 3,566 Pal-
estinians were allowed to stay. The re-
maining population were in constant fear
on their lives and properties, and many
of them witnessed the looting of their
homes and possessions by the Zionists.
Since Israel still maintains and enforces
the “Law Of Absentees’, all Haifa’s in-
dustries, farms, buses, cars, railroads,
cattle, and real estate have been looted
and become Israeli property.
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Charles and his daughter Monica.

Charles as a child sitting on a wall
in Haifa.
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In 1998, Charles’ daughter, Monica, decided to study Arabic
at Birzeit University in Palestine. It had been 50 years since
he’d last been to Palestine so Charles decided to visit her at
her behest. Though he was adverse to crossing into Israeli
territory, Charles agreed to show Monica his childhood
neighborhood in Haifa.

They began the trip with a map but after a while, Charles
realized he knew exactly where he was. Monica was
incredulous yet Charles still knew the neighborhood well
enough after 50 years that he needed no map to find home.
They got out of the car and began walking until finally a
woman popped her head out of an old friend’s house and
asked “Can I help you?” Charles explained that he’d grown
up in that neighborhood and hadn’t been back since 1948.
He proceeded to tell the woman what her own apartment
looked like from the inside as he had spent much time there as a child. The woman knew the
people who currently lived in Charles’ childhood home and agreed to introduce them so that
Monica and Charles could see their house as well. The house was exactly the same and brought
Charles a flood of memories. He could hardly believe he was there.

As serendipity would have it, months later, part of the house was available to rent. Monica
was given the opportunity to stay in her father’s old house and slept in the bedroom where her
grandfather slept until 1948.

Charles returned to Palestine again a few months later in order to share his homeland with
his other daughters, Fiona and Nadia. While driving in Haifa he stopped at a grocery store
that was once owned by family friends of his. Charles approached the man standing outside
and asked, “Is this store still owned by the same family?”” The man replied, “Yes, why do you
want to know?” Charles said, “The son of the store owner was my best friend as a child.” To
that, the man looked him straight in the eyes and responded “Charles?” They hugged and felt
overwhelmed with emotion as they rekindled a childhood friendship after 50 years. Distance
may have separated them, but the friendship had endured all that came to pass since 1948.

The idea of abandoning Palestine never occurred to Charles. Even after 60 years, he is a
Palestinian, he believes in their righteous cause and will never abandon the dream of a state
for all Palestinians and a respected national identity free from denigration. He continues to
support his people’s struggle for freedom by taking part in cultural events, political rallies and
supporting activist organizations. He believes these are the duties of every Palestinian.

* Claudia Pena is in her third year at UCLA School of Law. She serves as a member of Law Students for
Justice in Palestine and plans to work in the field of human rights upon graduation.



In a Heartbeat: Loss and Longing in al-Mahjar, A Pacific Northwest Story

Hashim and Samer Al-Huneidi - Oregon, United States

By Zaha Hassan*

“In a heartbeat.” That is how fast it must
have taken 18 year old Hashim and the rest
of the Al-Huneidi family to realize after the
massacre of 426 residents of their town,
Al-Lydd, that they would have to flee to
safer ground. “In a heartbeat.” That is also
how fast Hashim’s son, Samer, would return
to Al-Lydd today—if he only could. An

amazing declaration from Samer who has
only known Palestine from the stories of
his father and family elders, and from a few
summer vacations. How is one able to leave all that one knows and all that is familiar to live
in a homeland that is the stuff of legend?

Thirteen thousand miles away, in Oregon, is just about as far as one can get from Palestine.
Samer is forty-nine years old and is married with teenage children. He works as an engineer
for the state. He has a good life by anyone’s measure—but he would leave it all to “go home.”
He tells me that his children would do the same just as easily.

Samer comes from a notable Al-Lydd family: his grandfather, Abdel Mu’ti Al-Huneidi, and
great uncle, Salim Al-Huneidi, were mayors of the town in the 1930s. Samer’s grandfather
and his great uncle died in internecine fighting before the Zionist occupation of Al-Lydd on
July 11, 1948. Samer tells of how his father joined over 55,000 others on the road from Al-
Lydd to Ramallah. He tells the story with detail one would expect from someone who had
actually lived through the Nakba, someone who had made the long march during the height
of the brutal summer’s heat with the thousands of others to an unknown future.

The story of how the Al-Huneidi family survived and made it out of Al-Lydd, to Ramallah, to
Nablus where Samer’s maternal grandfather, Al-Shaikh Mahmoud Amin Al Taher, was from,
to Amman, to Kuwait, and then to the US, is remarkable enough. Even more remarkable,
however, is Samer’s personal story—how the descendant of refugees has maintained his
connection to Al-Lydd and his dream of return.

Samer was not content to passively take in the knowledge of his family history and the stories
about his family’s olive and fruit trees, the smell of jasmine wafting in the air of Al-Lydd in
a Palestinian Spring, or the celebrations that took place under the roof of the family home.
In 1998, Samer was getting ready to travel to the Middle East to bury his mother, Ummama.
Prior to his travel, he had obtained the name and phone number of the man who was currently
occupying his family home in Al-Lydd. Samer had visited Al-Lydd several times through the
years and he knew that his family home was still standing. Samer was cautioned not to try to
approach the house by a Palestinian resident of Al-Lydd who was among the approximately
eleven hundred original residents who took their chances and did not flee the town in 1948.
In one of Samer’s visits to Al-Lydd in 1996, Samer knocked on the door of his father’s home.
The occupant of the home was out but his teenage daughter gave Samer her father’s contact
information and allowed Samer to take photos of the outside of the house.

Hashim Al-Hunaidi’s property which
shows a new building built in front
of the family home. The building is
currently being used as a restaurant by
the occupant of Samer’s family home,
Robert Ben Ano. The Al-Hunaidi family
home is located in the back and is slated
for demolition by the Israeli authorities.

Al-Lydd. A major Palestinian city before
1948, Al-Lydd's 19,000 Palestinians were
reduced to 1,052 after the Zionist as-
sault that lasted several months due to
Palestinian resistance. To overcome this
resistance, the Zionist military forces used
airborne fighter bombers for the first time to
bomb the city and its nearby airport. Soon
after the city’s occupation on 11 July 1948,
the Israeli army committed its largest mas-
sacre in Palestine, which resulted in the
murder of 426 men, women, and children.
At least, 176 of these people were slaugh-
tered in Dahmash mosque, the city's main
place of worship. Most of the city's inhabit-
ants were forced to flee to Ramallah, and
many continued to Jordan. 350 Palestin-
ians died en route due to exhaustion and
dehydration. One of these refugees was
Ismail Shammout (d.2007), considered the
Dean of Palestinian artists, who depicted
the exodus from Al-Lydd in his early paint-
ings. Al-Lydd was renamed Lod by the
Israeli government. Also on the lands of Al-
Lydd lie the colonies of Zeitan in the north,
Yagel nearby the airport, Ahi'Eser between
them, and Ginnaton to the east.

Ismail Shammout's “We Shall
Return”, 1954
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Hashim’s identity document

Samer with his parents and his
brother.
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When Samer returned to the US, he called the occupant of his family house. For two years,
Samer talked with Robert ben Ano almost monthly. They talked about their lives, their family,
and their work. Samer learned that Robert was a Morrocan Jew who immigrated to Israel
in 1949 at the age of two. Speaking together in Arabic, Samer learned that Robert owned a
successful construction business, he was married to an Iraqi Jew, and they had three children:
two daughters, and a son.

When Samer’s mother passed away in 1998 and Samer was set to travel to the region, Robert
invited Samer to stay with him in Al-Lydd. Samer was excited by the prospect but he had
one important condition: Robert would have to agree that Samer was not coming for a visit
to Robert’s home—Samer was coming to &is home. With perhaps a little discomfort, Robert
agreed.

When Samer arrived at his family home, he was greeted warmly by Robert and his wife.
Samer however perceived some tension in the air. Samer stayed for four days and slept in a
room that he later learned was his aunts’. Robert took Samer around the town and introduced
him to other Palestinians living in Al-Lydd. They ate together at a local restaurant and spent
the time talking together and with other townspeople. Robert told Samer that he had his own
Arabic restaurant that he built on part of the Al-Huneidi property. Samer learned from the
Palestinian inhabitants of Al-Lydd that Robert was well-liked among Palestinians and was
kind to those in need.

When it was time for Samer to leave, Samer’s feelings were a bit mixed: on the one hand he
had met a friend, a good and decent person; but on the other hand, he was leaving his family
home in the same way his father had left: never knowing if he would ever return—or if he
ever could. Being in such an emotional state at the Ben Gurion Airport before a security
check is never a good idea for a traveler of Palestinian descent, especially not one named
Al-Huneidi with multiple entry and exit visas in his passport. Samer spent four hours in an
Israeli interrogation room before admitting to officials that he had visited Robert. When they
learned Samer had visited Robert, the security officials left the room, returned a few minutes
later, and then, without explanation, let Samer get on his plane.

When Samer returned to the US, he found a voice message on his home phone from Robert
who called to make sure that he arrived home safely. Evidently, the security officials had
called Robert to ask about Samer and Robert assured them that Samer was a friend. Samer
and Robert have maintained their friendship since that visit in 1998.

Samer has learned that the Israeli government is planning to demolish the family home along
with many other Palestinian homes and businesses that still stand in what is today called
Lod. The Israeli government is offering Robert US $250,000 for the house; Robert wants
half'a million. To Samer, it is priceless; it stands as evidence of the crime that was committed
against his family, it represents his identity as a Palestinian and a material connection to that
identity, and it embodies Al-Nakba as it affected his family and countless others.

Today, Samer does not know if his house still exists. Regardless of whether it remains or
whether it has been demolished like so many other Palestinian homes in Al-Lydd in favor of
a high rise apartment complex for new Jewish immigrants, Samer assures me that he will not
cease in the search for justice for his family—so long as there is still a beat in his heart.

*Zaha Hassan is a Palestinian-American attorney living and working in the Pacific Northwest. She is also
a member of the steering committee of the US Campaign to End the Israeli Occupation.



| Miss the Air

Fatima Ahmad Owdeh - Deheishe camp, West Bank, Occupied Palestinian Territory

by Karine Mac Allister*

I was around 17-18 years old when we were expelled from
our village, Deir Aban. This was 18 October 1948. We had
heard that the Zionists had occupied Akka, Jaffa, and many
villages and that massacres occurred, such as in Deir Yassin.
We heard that the Zionists had put the dead and injured people
into a hole and buried them alive in Deir Yassin, the same day
that we heard that Abdelqader Husseini was killed. A street
was later built on top of them. We were very afraid and when
we heard about the story of Deir Yassin, all the civilians in
the village went to hide in the mountains. Only the fighters
remained, we had one gun per fifteen persons in the village.
We stayed in the mountains for four months, until the Zionists
attacked the village. Eighteen fighters were killed during the
clashes and we had no choice but to leave in search of a safer place. Iremember the names of all
the fighters who died as well as the names of the two women who were killed by a bomb while
picking fruits, some were members of her family. We all left on foot to al Khadr while the fighters
went to Hebron. We lived under the trees in al Khadr, in the rain and cold.

We eventually found a cave to rent in Beit Sahour and five families moved there. We lived in
very harsh conditions, without electricity or money and with limited water - we had only two
water tanks for all the families, if we wanted more, we had to pay. We had brought nothing from
our houses. We managed to survive by picking herbs and plants from the mountains. Without
basic facilities, it was not a life. We did not feel welcomed by people, although they were also
Palestinians, people were accusing us of having left our homes, which made us feel bad. We lived
in the cave for around 12 years. During that time, I got married.

I wanted to move to Deheisheh camp, to be with other refugees, but my husband refused because
we had been told that during the winter, the tents would flood and that people had to move into
the UNRWA school and my husband did not like the idea of living all together crowded into one
room without any privacy. While my husband kept refusing to go to Deheisheh camp, I decided
in 1960 to go myself with our children, in the end he followed. Life in the camp was better, we
were all the same, all refugees, nobody was asking questions about who we were and where we
were from. We have since then lived in the camp. I had 4 boys and 3 girls.

In Deir Aban, we had our land from which we could live, we had cows, camels and sheep, to
make milk and cheese, we also baked bread. We exchanged our products with others. We were
self-sufficient. In the camp, we have nothing - no land and no work, we can no longer be farmers.
All we have is the house provided by UNRWA. I miss everything, the mint, the tomatoes, the
water, the freedom to go to the sea or walk in the mountains. [ miss the air.

I went back to Dir Aban several times since 1948. The last time I went was in 1999, but we
can no longer go with the Wall and the closures. When I went, I could not eat from the trees
because I felt bad that we had left such a beautiful place. At the same time, we had no choice
but to leave. Our exile is still something that tears me apart until today.

Depopulated village of Deir Aban,
2007. (©BADIL)

Deir Aban. A circular vilage centred
around the intersection of five roads
with the ‘Umari mosque in the middle,
Deir Aban was home to over two-
thousand  Palestinians. While the
villagers were exposed to several
Zionist raids and skirmishes starting in
January 1948, the village held out until
19 October 1948, when it was the first
village targetted in Operation ha-Har,
signalling the end of the second truce
of the war. The village's inhabitants and
the few Egyptian troops stationed there
were exposed to concentrated artillery
and mortar shelling in a surprise attack
that completely depopulated the village,
sending the villagers east towards the
Bethlehem and Hebron hills. In 1950,
the colonies of Tzor'a, Machseya, Beyt
Shemesh, and Yish'i were established
on the village lands. Refugees from
the village have established an Arabic
language website that you can visit at::
http:/lwww.deraban.com

i i

Three generations of refugees:
Fatima with her son and grandson,
2008 (©BADIL)

43



Deir Yassin Massacre

Early in the morning of Friday, April 9, 1948, commandos of the Irgun, headed by
Menachem Begin, and the Stern Gang attacked Deir Yassin, a village with about 750
Palestinian residents. It was several weeks before the end of the British Mandate. The
village lay outside of the area that the United Nations recommended be included in
a future Jewish State. Deir Yassin had a peaceful reputation and was even said by a
Jewish newspaper to have driven out some Arab militants. But it was located on high
ground in the corridor between Tel Aviv and Jerusalem and one plan, kept secret until
years afterwards, called for it to be destroyed and the residents evacuated to make way
for a small airfield that would supply the beleaguered Jewish residents of Jerusalem.
By noon over 100 people, half of them women and children, had been systematically
murdered. Four commandos died at the hands of resisting Palestinians using old Mausers
and muskets. Twenty-five male villagers were loaded into trucks, paraded through the
Zakhron Yosef quarter in Jerusalem, and then taken to a stone quarry along the road
between Givat Shaul and Deir Yassin and shot to death. The remaining residents were
driven to Arab East Jerusalem. (http://www.deiryassin.org)

In the camp, while life was
better than in the cave, I
became worried for my
children, because Israeli
soldiers would regularly
attack us. When the army
came in the 1970s and 80s,
I used to fight the soldiers
and they would run away.
I was strong at the time.
Since the beginning of the
second Intifada, however, 1
can no longer challenge and
fight the soldiers because I
know they have killed many

people, including some of

my relatives. I used to fight back and beat them with my shoes, but now, I am afraid, because
they shoot immediately, no discussion! The soldiers often came to arrest my sons, and when
they would not find them, they beat me. Two of my sons went to jail, we know that the soldiers
can come anytime to arrest anyone or destroy a house. I cry all the time about those who were
killed, injured and arrested because of the conflict. I visit all the families in the camp who have
lost people or whose children have been arrested.

We are refugees, we have lost everything. Our life is in our village, although we are among
Palestinians, we do not belong here, we belong to our land.

For me, the Nakba is to be forced out from our land, it is the loss of our country.
I feel that the Nakba continues, because we are still in this situation, without our
land. I never forget, I always think before I go to bed about my land, my village,
the people I used to know...the past comes back to me. I always explain to my
grandchildren and my great grandchildren about our land in Deir Aban and about
how to go back. The Israelis thought that we would no longer want to return
home once the first generation died — they were wrong, we have transmitted the
cause and love of our country to our children.

I feel nobody supports us, no Arab, European or other country. I would like
to beat Condoleeza Rice and Abbas with my shoes! I think that the Ramallah
government follows the Israeli-American agenda; they are only looking for
power and money and do not have the Palestinian cause at heart. I don’t think
the Palestinians should work with the Americans or normalize with the Israelis.
We should not let the Israelis steal our land, we shouldn t sell our cause, we
must continue to resist. 1 hope that the Palestinian leadership will change and

Fatima at the well of her village,
Deir Aban in the 1990s.
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be strong again, because currently, my only hope is the future generations, the
children of our children. I know that in the end, we will win. We will resist and
one day have the support we need to win. For me, peace will only come once we return to
our land. Tt is also hard for me to imagine living with people who have persecuted us, I don’t
think I would feel safe.

*Karine Mac Allister is Coordinator for Legal Advocacy at Badil. You can contact her at legal@badil.org



The Darker it is, the Closer We are to the Break of Dawn
Rafat Abu Ghali - Al-Shabora refugee camp, Gaza Strip, Occupied Palestinian Territory

by Rafat Abu Ghali

My family’s name is Abu Ghali and my family comes from
Bir Saba. We used to own 48,000sq meters of cultivatable
land. People used to cultivate their land in winter and
move to another area called Sidna Ali, near Jaffa. There,
they used to rent land lots and cultivate them. During the
harvest season they would go back to Bir Saba. In 1933,
the British came and expelled the Arabs from Sidna Ali
in order to settle Jewish immigrants on their lands. They
offered compensation to the land owners. The compensation
was one camel, twelve cans of oils, and 20,000sq meters
of land with a house built on it in Moqibla area near Jenin.
Most people accepted the offer, among them was Khalil
Abu Ghali, my grandfather. Those who rejected the offer
were expelled by force. A Jewish settlement called Kabus
was built there.

The Zionist schemes started in Tel Aviv and Jaffa. Arab
owners understood the real intention of these schemes; [
they were offered two-storey houses built on Palestinian |
lands. According to the plan, the ground floor was to be
occupied by Palestinian land owners while the first floor
was for Jewish immigrants. When violence erupted, the
Jewish residents started firing from the first floor on their
Palestinian neighbors. The British did not allow Arabs to
own guns, but they provided weapons for the Jews.

The Zionist forces secretly brought four trucks loaded with
weapons for military training and armament, but were seen Orange harvest being prepared
by a Palestinian man living in the area. The man was from Shawabka clan and his clan received for sale in Yafa. (source:

L. palestineremembered.com)
death threats from the Zionists, who told them not to tell anyone about the weapons they saw
or they would all be killed. The British were informed and confiscated the weapons without
punishing the Zionists. One day later, Zionist forces attacked the homes of the Shawabka clan,
killing five people. While Khalil Abu Ghali was going to sell his orange harvest in Ramat Gan,
he saw dead people lying on the ground and injured people. Their relatives, from Shawabka
clan, were crying in anger. He went back home because he was afraid to be killed by the
Zionists. This is also the reason why he left to Gaza with his family and relatives. Some of
his relatives went to Gaza while others went to Jenin in the West Bank. Zionist forces hunted
down the Palestinians to kill them while they were escaping to Gaza.

There was a noteable incident which involved the poisoning of a water well. People saw
Zionists put poison in the well and removed the poison bottle immediately. They tried hard
to purify the water but were unsuccessful. My grandfather, Khalil Abu Ghali, came to fill
twelve jars of water from the well but people told him not to do so because the well had been
poisoned. Unfortunately, he thought people did not want him to fill his jars to keep the water
for themselves and their livestock. He filled his jars and paid no attention to their warnings.
He took the water to his family who used the water for drinking in the evening. The following

Rafat Abu Ghali.
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morning, everyone from his family fell ill and started vomiting; especially Khalil’s 12 year-old
daughter, Tamam. She went into a coma and died instantly. However, Tamam was not the only
victim. Other people died and some suffered from hair loss because of the poisoned water.
Those who drank camel milk recovered soon while people who refused to drink it stayed in
hospital for two months for treatment. They left the area and moved to another area called
Hirb Thiab.

The planes started bombing Gaza and people were forced to move towards Al-Bureij camp in
Gaza. The Zionists kept hunting them down. People had to run to Rafah and stayed there ever
since. All of my family members are registered refugees with UNRWA.. They benefited from the
food rations that UNRWA used to give to Palestinian refugees in the early years after 1948.

Rafat's father.

The Nakba affected us very badly. We lost everything. It was a dramatic change for our family.
We moved from the very top to the very bottom overnight. We were living on our own lands,
growing our crops and breeding livestock. We used to depend on organic crops and livestock.
We became homeless refugees, waiting for other nations to give us something to eat. We still
tell our children about our land. They know their original land very well. It is inscribed in our
hearts and minds.

Being a refugee means a lot to me. Being a refugee, I cannot forget that I have rights to fight
for. It means that my family and I are looking forward to regaining our stolen land from the
OppIessors.

Socially, one of the main impacts of the Nakba is that the differences between people from
different villages and towns melted away. In many places, marriage used to take place only
within the same clan or village. Nowadays people marry their daughters to people from distant
places and clans. The Nakba also changed our professions. We were land owners and farmers.
We were less educated then. Now we work as teachers, doctors, engineers, mechanics, nurses,
social workers, and builders. We changed our professions because we were forced to, in order
to adapt to the new living conditions associated with our situation as refugees in Gaza.

i <% -
Train station in Bir Saba.(source: palestineremembered.com)
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I studied English in India. I chose this profession because of

the job market. There has been a need for English teachers

in Gaza. I worked for the armed forces for a while as a

translator but I did not like it. I felt that teaching at university

is better and more rewarding in terms of academic status

and professional development. Currently I am working at

Al-Agsa University as a full time lecturer. I live in Shabora

refugee camp in Rafah. I live there because it is the place

my parents came as refugees 60 years ago.

There has been a misconception about solving the refugee '
problem. The international community has always been =0
ambivalent when it comes to Palestinians. The solution is

simple: return the refugees to their original land and compensate them for their losses. One
state solution is fine, but we do not want to be second class citizens living under a colonial
power. Jews, Christians and Muslims can live side by side, but the last word should be for
Palestinians, the indigenous people of Palestine. Criminals who committed heinous crimes
against us should face justice as well.

A just solution means the return of rights, all rights and the punishment of all criminals. The
responses of the UN and other international organizations were nice to look at and read, but
they were never applied. They cannot be applied when they concern the rights of Palestinians
such as the right of return. Why don’t we have a UNHCR in Palestine? I think that the UN
and other international bodies are accomplices by being silent. Why does the UN use force in
other places of the world and not here? We need more than words and humanitarian aid from
the UN and the international community.

As for the peace process, it not effective enough for us. The Israelis have left Gaza but they
are still bombing us from the sky. We live in the prison where we were born; no movement,
no travel, no leisure, no security, nothing at all! We miss a lot of the basic things which are
available to all free nations.

I do not know what will happen to me or to my children. Our best weapon is education, which is,
unfortunately, deteriorating. We have to stick hard to our books and pencils because education
is the only effective weapon to fight the occupation. My slogan is Education! Education — in
order to face occupation.

Sometimes I think that our kids have a bleak future. There is not enough space in the Gaza
strip. People are suffering now and life is worse than ever. We are living under the most
extraordinarily difficult circumstances. I think, however, that the darker it is, the closer we are
to the break of dawn. The situation cannot remain as bad as it is now.

ol

Mass house demolition in Rafah,

Gaza 2004. (OWAFA)
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60 Years of Nakba is Simply My Life

Mustapha Khaled Awad - Brussels, Belgium

By Maysa A. Hajjaj*

Arch still standing in Al-Sumariyya,
2008 (©Magbula Nassar).

Al-Sumayriyya. Knowing that they
would soon come under attack, the
villagers of Sumayriyya had evacu-
ated most of the women, children, and
elderly to Akka and other neighboring
villages before the Carmeli Brigade
descended upon the village on 14 May
1948. Repeating the same tactic used
for the ethnic cleansing of most Pal-
estinian villages, the Brigade attacked
from the South and Northwest, leav-
ing a passage to the East for villagers
to escape. The village’s resistance
fighters attempted to repel the attack
from the northwest, but suffered very
heavy casualties. The village was
mostly destroyed. Only one of the
rooms from the mosque, and few of
the walls and arches from some of
the village buildings remain standing.
One month after the destruction of
Sumayriyya, the village was leveled
by the Jewish National Fund with
authorization from David Ben-Gurion,
and in January 1949 the kibbutzes of
Lochamey ha-Geta'ot and Shamrat
were constructed on the village lands.

Mustapha in Belgium.
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His name is “Mustapha” as he likes to write it and for others
to use ... a young Palestinian man living in Belgium as a
political refugee.

I first met Mustapha when I came to Belgium as a Masters
student from Palestine. But actually I can say that I met
him long before that, in my neighbourhood in Abu-Dis or
on Rukab street in Ramallah, or maybe on one of my trips
into the occupied land of “1948”, where his home village
Al-Sumayriyya is located, in the north of Palestine. A
Palestinian, alone, missing his people, without laughs or
tears ...without wedding ceremonies or funerals ... without
LIFE. Isaw him in the faces of the people of my country,
looking tired and so consumed, yet full of hope and faith.

I might have been shocked a little when I first heard that he was in Belgium as a political
refugee. I could not quite understand why he would do that; leave. Yet for him, it was the
only way to escape the daily obstacles and for once, be free to think and maybe to get rid of
the pain.

When I was asked to interview a Palestinian refugee here in Belgium, Mustapha's name
quickly popped into my head. In fact he was the first and only one I thought of for this
interview, and this, although I had already met quite a good number of Palestinians; as one
would anywhere in the world. I called him at mid-day “Mustapha dear, do you have free
time this weekend? I want to interview you... it’s about you being a Palestinian refugee...” I
didn’t continue my sentence nor had I given him more details before he replied “yes, sure...
anything for Palestine.”

When he arrived at my place, the first thing he said was “Ah Maysa, tell me what do you
have for me?” with the same smile that he always shares. “Well, ok let’s start” I said... “tell
me your story...”

I am Mustapha Khaled Awad from Al-Sumayriyya a little village in Akka district where my
grandfather lived with his family before they were ethnically cleansed in the 1948 war and went
to south Lebanon and then to Sidon, after which they were given tents to live in, establishing
the Palestinian refugee camp of Ein el-Hilweh. Later on they were able to build something
like a “house” and start settling down. But when Israel invaded and occupied Lebanon in
1982, the whole family had to move again to what they believed was a more secure and safer
place... they were moving from one place to another until they eventually decided to go back
to Ein el-Hilweh, where they have lived until now.

The Nakba changed us — and this is for all Palestinian refugees- from a person who has his
own land, house, job, family - a LIFE - into someone who is excluded from all of this. To be
a Palestinian refugee for me means to be a homeless person, displaced from his homeland,
expelled and unwanted by any other country, including the Arab world. The Nakba did not



change my personal identity; it is the others who started
calling me “Palestinian refugee” instead of “Palestinian”.
We have preserved our culture and traditions throughout
the years and we will keep doing this for ever.

60 years of Nakba simply is my life and add to that new
generations of Palestinian refugees. And because of what
is happening in Palestine these days, we - the Palestinian
refugees - are now more attached to our cause and land than
ever. There has never been coexistence between Israelis
and Palestinians since they kicked us out, and there never
will be ... for me, I will remain a Palestinian refugee in
Lebanon with the minimum human rights until I go back
to my homeland.

I'was born in 1982 in Ein el-Hilweh refugee camp, just when the Israeli invasion began. I went
to an UNRWA school but didn’t continue my higher education for personal reasons; moreover,
to complete your education in that period [civil war and Israeli occupation] was difficult because
there was no high school in the camp. I worked for a company while also being a member of
a “political organization.” After that, and because of the difficulties of living in Lebanon as
a Palestinian refugee combined with my own problems with that organization, I decided to
leave Lebanon and travel to Belgium. I arrived in Belgium illegally. I thought I might be able
to make a new start here, and now I work here.

In Belgium, I try to help Palestinian refugees in general and mainly those in Lebanon. We
organize festivals under the theme of the right of return and collect money to help build medical
clinics and hospitals. We also organize vigils and demonstrations and a lot of other different
activities related to Palestine and the refugees issue.

I believe that the best and only solution is for the Israeli occupation to end and for us to have
our own country with Jerusalem as the capital of Palestine and for the refugees to return to the
lands from which they were expelled and not only to return to a future Palestinian half-state
and receive compensation. This is what I call a ‘fair solution’.

The UN recognized that Palestinian refugees have the right to return to their own lands - UN
Resolution 194- but it was never implemented and it became just another number on another
document... I really think that the international community has always had an obvious bias
towards Israel, which has guaranteed it unconditional support.

The peace process depends on the Israeli withdrawal from Palestine and that’s it... Palestinian
refugees will always stick to their cause and land. No one can ever question it or think that
the 60 years or even more can make them integrate into the places where they live now and
to forget their homeland... and the right of return will always be the number one issue in their
lives, regardless of the years or the difficulties they face. And I believe that the day will come
when we will all go back to Palestine and prove to the whole world that we are the nation of
peace on the land of peace.

* Maysa A. Hajjaj is from Jerusalem, Palestine, and is currently doing her Masters degree in management

at the VUB “ vrije universiteit brussels” in Brussels.

Mustapha raising Belgians’
awareness about Palestine.
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We are the Children of the Apostles

Reverend Lilian Mattar-Patey — La Salle, Canada

by Hazem Jamjoum

Cafe Europe on Zion
Square, 1935. (source:
palestineremembered.com)

Jerusalem, the Eternal Capital. A
hub of political, social, cultural and
economic life for the Arabs and Jews
who lived in the city before 1948, Je-
rusalem has held a renowned deep
religious significance for adherents
of the three monotheistic religions of
the world. It is for this reason that the
UN Partition Plan (Resolution 181) of
1947 set this city aside as a corpus
separatum to be administered by the
international community. When news
of the Partition Plan reached the
Christians and Muslims of Jerusalem,
they spontaneously broke out into ri-
ots across the city. The response from
the Zionist Irgun and Stern gangs was
to detonate bombs targeting these
Arab civilians. The Jerusalem com-
mander of the Haganah, commanding
over 5000 troops, ordered the expul-
sion of the Arab inhabitants of Jerusa-
lem's mixed and predominantly Jew-
ish neighborhoods; a task which had
been mostly completed by January
1948. The villages to the west of the
holy city, including Romeima, Lifta,
and Sheikh Badr, were also depopu-
lated and occupied in the same pe-
riod. On 7 February 1948, David Ben
Gurion told the Mapai council: “From
your entry into Jerusalem, through
Lifta, Romeima... there are no Arabs.
One hundred percent Jews... in many
Arab neighborhoods in the west one
sees not a single Arab. | do not as-
sume that this will change... What has
happened to Jerusalem... is likely to
happen in many parts of the country.”
(continued on page 59)
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While she was only two years old when her family was forced
to flee their West Jerusalem home, Reverend Mattar was told
the story so often that it is deeply entrenched as part of her own
memory. Her father, Suleiman Hanna Mattar, was a successful
banker with Barclays bank in Haifa, and the bank had moved
him to Jerusalem. In the weeks before the Zionist attack on
Jerusalem, her sister’s closest Jewish friends had told her that
there was going to be trouble for Arabs, her father had also been
told that if they did not leave their home they would all be killed.
So it was obvious when the sounds and tremors of explosions
began to fill the house that they needed to leave.

Her mother had just finished baking bread which was cooling on
the kitchen table when the bombing began. Her father rounded
up the family, taking them out the back door. The gunfire was too heavy to head for the car, so they
had to walk. He told them that if they were separated they should head toward the monastery on the
Mount of Olives. To keep the younger kids calm, the oldest brother invented the game ‘jump in the
whole so the bullets will miss us,” and their mother told them that they were going out on a picnic.
Anxious for the safety of her children, she left her purse in the house.

Flooded with refugees, the monastery was hesitant to allow people to stay, but Lilian’s father convinced
them each day that they needed another day in the small room that the nine family members were crowded
into. He wanted to find a way to get back to the house and get some of the essential things from what the
family had left behind, and even tried to get to Cyprus to get into the Zionist controlled areas, but even
that was impossible; ‘infiltrators,” as they were called, were shot on sight. At the time he did not know
that the house had been looted and blown up. With all of these difficulties, the most painful moment for
him, as he would later tell the young Lilian, was when she came to him at the monastery and told him
that she was hungry. The once wealthy banker could not afford to feed his two year old daughter.

After a few weeks had passed, Mr. Mattar received a letter from a Swedish friend offering him and
his family a place to stay in her Jerusalem home. She had been returning there when the attack began,
and hoisted a white flag in an attempt to stay safe, but was shot at nonetheless. The family stayed
with her for five years. It was on the balcony of that house overlooking the depopulated Western
part of the city that Lilian saw her father cry for the first time. “He loved Haifa, Jerusalem, Kuf
Kanna and had bought land in all of those places that he planned to give to his kids when they grew
up and married. He and my older brother, who died earlier this year, planned to return to them all,
and thought and spoke about return every day until their dying moments.”

Lilian vividly remembers her schoolgirl days in the 1950s and 60s at the Schmidt Girl’s College
under Jordanian rule. One day, a group of Palestinian resistance fighters came into the class telling
the girls that “every Palestinian should be trained to fight.” The teacher was disapprovingly caught
off guard, a feeling that turned to dismay when the presenters asked the girls which of them would
want to be trained and Lilian was the first to raise her hand, inspiring the rest of the class to follow
suit. This event inspired her to join demonstrations calling for the return of the refugees and their
properties, beaming with pride as she carried her Palestinian flag. She even began weight lifting,



seeing the activity as part of that duty to get trained, which did not go over well with
her father who abhorred violence and prayed daily for peace. He also did not consider it
appropriate for gitls to train with weights.

After graduating, Lilian followed most of her older siblings to the United States to continue
her studies, working part time at a bank in New York. This is where she was in June 1967
when Israel occupied what was left of Palestine. It was difficult to communicate with her
family. One day her mother came to New York. When Lilian asked why she had come
alone and without her father, the tragic answer was that he was dead.

In 1952, and in spite of being told that he was ineligible as an Arab, Mr. Mattar had
persevered and gotten the job as the Warden of the Garden Tomb in Jerusalem, a sight
believed by some Protestants to be the burial place of Christ. In the aftermath of the June
1967 occupation, during which he had refused to leave his beloved city, he answered
a knock on the door, and was shot dead by Israeli soldiers as soon as he opened it. He
was buried there, and soon his grave was attracting the attention of tourists and pilgrims
and visited as a holy shrine. This displeased the Israeli authorities, who demanded that
the family exhume the body and bury him somewhere else, otherwise they would do it
themselves. It was Lilian who traveled back to Palestine to do this, ultimately burying him in Beit
Jala beside Dr. Lambi, a beloved family friend who had operated a Tuberculosis clinic for Palestinians
and passed away while visiting the Mattars years before.

Lilian had decided to move back to her homeland with her Canadian husband, whom she had recently
married, and began a job teaching the children of diplomats at an Anglican school on Prophet
Street in West Jerusalem keeping her Palestinian identity to herself. Her plan was to raise money to
establish an orphanage for Palestinian children. To do this she began to take on extra work, teaching
at an orphanage in the afternoons and giving private lessons to girls from the Schmidt College in
the evening. Before two years had elapsed, the difficulties of fundraising, the desire of her husband
to return to Canada, and recurring episodes of harassment each time her Palestinian identity became
known to her West Jerusalem surroundings all combined to send Lilian to Canada.

In Canada, Lilian maintained her connection to Palestine by seeking and joining any groups that
worked for the Palestinian cause, and instilling in her children the memory of their grandfather, as
she completed her degree in Psychology and Religion and accompanied her husband from city to city
around the country as he changed jobs. At best, most churches ignored the plight of the Palestinians,
a fact that distressed Lilian until she discovered the work of Rev. Al Forrest, editor of the United
Church’s publication The Observer, who openly supported Palestinian rights and, when she finally
met him, told her about how had been harassed for these views. He inspired her to join the United
Church of Canada, the church in which she was ordained in 1985.

As a Minister in the Church, Reverend Lilian Mattar has often included the plight of Palestinians in
her sermons and had to defend her views in the face of strong support for Zionism. She played a key
role in educating the congregation about the truth of the Palestinian Nakba, and joined the effort to
bring the Church to reevaluate its investments and pass resolutions favoring ethical investment so
that it is not supporting Israel’s crimes against the Palestinians.

When asked about her thoughts about the future for Palestinian refugees, she said “this two state
solution that they are talking about is terrible, it divides us, and strips us of what is rightfully ours, as
if that land isn 't ours to begin with. In reality we need to all work together. I am very proud of being
a Palestinian Arab; when we were younger, my mother used to tell us that we are the descendants of
the Apostles, she would say: ‘where do you think those descendants went? It's us!’”

Fire in the Church of the Holy
Sepulchre, Jerusalem, 1948.
(©Orient House Archives)
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From al Damoun to Nahr el Bared Camp: A Journey of Pain

Hussein Loubani - Nahr el Bared camp, Lebanon

By Mahmoud Zeidan®

Land of Al-Damoun in 2005.
(©Salam Diab).

Al-Damoun Demoralized by the fall of
the nearby city of Akka, many of Al-
Damoun’s villagers fled their homes
when the Sheva’ (Seventh) Brigade of
the Israeli army began its artillery as-
sault on the village. The assault came
as part of Operation Dekel in mid-July
1948. The village was completely
razed to the ground after its occu-
pation, and while its lands have not
been used for any significant Israeli
settlement, part of the village’s lands
are used for agriculture by the nearby
settlement of Yas'ur (built on the lands
of the neighboring destroyed village of
Al-Birwa).
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One day we will return to our own Home,

And succumb to tender hopes.

We will return no matter how much time passes,
And how much distance separate us.

A song by prominent singer Fairouz

Hussein Loubani keeps singing these verses because there he
had left his childhood and pleasures: the pigeons, the hens, the
rabbits, the sheep, the house, the district, the shop of Kamel
Sh’aban, the mosque, the church, the cactus, the river, the
hill, the school, the pupils, and his teachers: Shafiq Obeid and
Khalil Bitar. All these are behind his craving desire to return
to his village in Palestine.

Hussein was 9 years old when in 1948 he left his village, Al-
Damoun, 9km from Akka. He still remembers those last days
minute by minute.

“Our teachers in the village were living in Akka; by the end
of April, they couldn t come to school anymore. Consequently,
we stopped going to school. As a child, I started to see armed
people guarding the village.”

The Jewish armed gangs attacked neighboring villages and
soon attacked Al-Damoun. This began a series of journeys the young Hussein with children and
women of his village had undergone. First, they spread out into the orchards of the village. “We
slept under the olive trees for around one month till the Jewish gangs started bombing us there, so
we left to Mi’ar village, which is 10km far from ours.”

Al-Damoun was soon occupied, and the Jewish gangs moved to Mi’ar. Hussein and his people
continued moving farther from Al-Damoun towards the unknown. “In a July night, we reached
Salameh valley, and we slept there for around 2 months.”

On 31 August his mother gave birth to a girl; they called her Salma, after the name of the valley.
Then the family continued their awful journey among the thorns and under difficult weather. Hussein
was holding his blind grandfather’s hand along with his younger brothers. They walked 25 km until
they reached a bordering village called Buqai’a. By that time his father as well as other refugees
had spent all their money. They didn’t have anything to eat.

While in Buqai’a, the Jewish militants arrived on a tank and stationed themselves near the school.
It was the first time Hussein saw soldiers up close. “A soldier gave us biscuits and taught us a song.
In two hours we learned it by heart... I kept singing it even after we settled in Lebanon till one
day my father heard me singing it. He slapped me and said, “isn’t it enough that they occupied our
land, and you are singing in rejoice for them?”” At that moment I realized that we were singing the
Haganah (Israeli army) anthem.



The soldiers called on loudspeakers ordering all displaced

people who arrived to Bugai’a to leave it, otherwise they would O raupyE Bl A
be killed or imprisoned. Then the Jewish gangs killed three .;_ | : i l.L! wmmme
men and dragged them on the sidewalk. The child Hussein | I n- .II' : m‘lllu
saw killing for the first time in his life, and for all the displaced |
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people it was a threat that forced them to leave the village.

The Loubanis along with others continued the journey out
to Suhmata, where the planes chased them. “On the way, |
asked a soldier to give me a drink of water. He said, ‘Go to
Haj Amin in Lebanon and ask him.’ I hadn’t heard of Lebanon
before that time. We continued our journey till we arrived to
the Lebanese borders.”

Hussein in his office showing old
photos.

This trip was full of agony. It was at the same time interrupted by glimpses of luck and, as is always
the case with kids, some fun. “We were thirsty... there was a well on the way, but the queue was so
long for us to win a sip of water. We continued our way till we reached Rmeish, the first Lebanese
village on the borders. We tried to buy water there but couldn t. We were told to drink from an open
pool that had a dead pig in it.”

It was only when Hussein reached the Shi’ite village of Bint Jbeil, that he could get a sip of water
for himself and his family simply because the woman realized his name was Hussein, and his
father’s was Ali, named after Shi’ite imams. In the evening, trucks arrived and carried people to
Tyre, and there a train was waiting for them. Someone called: “Those who want to go to Aleppo get
into the train.” The wagons of the train had no seats; it was designed to transport animals. About
forty people jumped into each wagon.

“I remember smiling for the first time in that journey. I got in a train for the first time in my life,
and didn t worry about its unknown destination.” The journey ended on 7 October 1948 in Tripoli
after the Syrian authorities blocked the borders to stop the entry of refugees. “So we stayed 10
days living in the wagons on bits of donations that philanthropists and associations from Tripoli
were giving.”

Life in the city wasn’t easy. It was hard for Hussein’s father, the peasant, to find any job in the city.
Hussein, the eldest among his brothers and sisters, had to work in a bakery to bring bread for his
family. “I didn t have the chance to go to the schools of the city. My father was happy for the bread
and the little money I brought.”

The Palestinian refugees lived in the hangars of the port till o,
June 1950, when UNRWA built Nahr el Bared camp. And it = ' °

was only after that when UNRWA started providing rations E,-' i Y |

for refugees that Hussein managed to overcome his father’s

reluctance to send him to school. “I joined school and was - "-:'
always the first in my class. Besides, I kept working in the -
fields, bakeries and a quarry to help my family. These works i

stripped me of my childhood but helped me continue my e e
education.” The Loubanis’ suffering continued until Hussein i
got his baccalaureate certificate in 1960 and became a teacher ST

at UNRWA schools. “I won t forget the happiness and pride
that filled my father's heart when I put the first salary in my
father's hand and kissed it.”

Remains of the train Hussein took
as a child to go to Tripoli in 1948.
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By 1960, life improved for the family. However, frustrations
and harassments had not ended in general. The camp was a
target from inside by the Deuxieme Bureau, the Lebanese Army
intelligence office, and by the Israeli raids from outside. When
Hussein had relatives from other camps visiting, he had to go
to the intelligence office to declare their arrival and intended
stay. Palestinian freedom of movement was highly restricted.
This went on until 1969, when the Cairo Agreement was signed
between the PLO and Lebanon. On the other hand, the camp
was continually subjected to Israeli raids. On 20 May, 2007,
the latest disaster, the war against Nahr el Bared between the
Lebanese army and Fateh Al-Islam, leveled it to the ground
and plunged it back to zero, “exactly the same as the day we
left Al-Damoun in 1948.”

Hussein as a part of a scout group in This ongoing Nakba and continuous suffering for 60 years,

Jerusalem, al Agsa Mosque, 1956. characterized by pain, deprivation, and humiliation, could not bend Hussein’s will and steadfastness.
He insisted on doing something for himself and his people. When he grew older, he joined the Arab
Nationalist Movement, enrolled in a scout group that enabled him to visit Jerusalem in 1956. This
visit constituted a landmark in his life where wrote his first diaries that paved the way to his later
career as a folklorist and writer. Among other works, he has written The Dictionary of Palestinian
Proverbs. Furthermore, he established a music band for youth in the camp.

After 60 years, Hussein feels that perhaps the logical outcome of the Nakba would have been the
destruction of the Palestinians as it is not easy for victimized refugees to behave positively as if
in a normal country. However, Hussein insisted on resisting the Nakba and working for return to
his lost paradise by all means. In 1965 he graduated with a B.A. in Arabic. He also started writing.
So far he has written around 25 books, 18 of them are on Palestine and Palestinians. “The Israelis
wanted us to dissolve in the normality of everyday life of Arab societies hosting us, and to be lost in
the labyrinth of exiles. But we refused such a painful reality. Like other Palestinians, I considered
education as a way out of the dreadful poverty and ignorance.”

Hussein succeeded in accumulating his own large library. His wide knowledge in the field of folklore makes
him an authority in this field. His only dream now is to communicate with specialists in the field inside
Palestine and to see formal Palestinian institutions encouraging
and supporting people like him.

Hussein believes the solution to his problem is in his return,
only return, that brings things back to their normal course.
Hussein does not believe that the Oslo peace process will lead
to the implementation of his right to go back, and consequently
he does not trust the international community which is under
the hegemony of the big powers; “We counted on the UN to
implement its issued resolutions for 60 years, mainly Resolution
194. Had it been implemented, a lot of bloodshed would have
been spared.” He adds, “The peace I believe in is the one that
is going to remove pain and harm from the afflicted and prevent
the slaughter and the infliction of further injustices. Otherwise,
the future is bleak.”

Destruction of Nahr El-Bared

Refugee Camp, Lebanon 2008
(©Rania Madi) * Mahmoud Zeidan is a cofounder of Aidoun Group and the Nakba archive.
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Stripped of Our Home and Left with the Shed

Hala George and her family - Edinburgh, Scotland*

by Hala George

Nothing in the disruption to me and my family described here
compares to the continued suffering and desperation of those driven
off their lands in Gaza, the West Bank and Lebanon.

My father’s family are descendants of the Crusaders and originally
came from Malta via Greece centuries ago, hence the name and the
fair features. My father, Anise Saleem George, was born in Haifa in
1906, his father Saleem was a grain merchant. My father was the
only son amongst five sisters, all born and raised in Palestine. My
mother Haipha Urban was born in Safad, Palestine in November
1909 and raised in Jerusalem. I was born at the Tiberias Church
of Scotland hospital in 1945, the youngest of three sisters; Salwa
and Olive.

In 1948 my father was working in Nablus, where we lived in a
rented house. Four of his sisters and his mother lived in that part
of Palestine which became Israel after the Nakba. We became
residents of the West Bank (under Jordanian jurisdiction) and were
unable to return to my father’s house in Nazareth. From then on,
we were severed from all of our relatives, my mother’s family were
similarly cut off. No mail, no phone, no connection. After some
years Christians were allowed to cross from Israel for one or two
days at Christmas. The crossing point was The Mendelbaum Gate
in the ‘No Man’s Land’, but we did not know until the day before
whether we were allowed to cross or not. One aunt was married
and her husband was working in Lebanon. She left Palestine in fear and went to live in
Beirut. My grandmother, who I only met once, went to join her. My grandfather had died
many years earlier. She left out of fear and wanted to be with her daughter for support. She
died without seeing the rest of her children again.

I lived in Nablus and then Ramallah until I was 19. In 1964 I came to Leith Hospital in
Edinburgh (Scotland) to do my nursing course. Although my sisters and I went to private
schools, there was not enough money for higher education. The nursing training was free,
we even had some pocket-money! I never saw my father again as he died suddenly in 1965.
In 1967 the Israeli invasion and occupation of the West Bank and Gaza Strip (i.e. the rest
of historic Palestine) occurred. I had completed my training but I only had a student visa
so I could not stay or obtain work in Britain. I desperately wanted to go home. I contacted
the Jordanian embassy in London, but they responded that they had no control over the
West Bank and could not help me. In March 1968, after writing numerous letters my status
in Britain was regularized and in April the Israelis granted me a two month visa to visit
the occupied West Bank. Keeping documents and certificates remains very important to
establish one’s background and identity as so many have been destroyed by Israel.

The second time I visited was in 1973, this time with a British passport, but because of my
place of birth I was taken out of the queue at the Allenby Bridge and was kept standing in

Hala, her parents and sisters.
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The wedding of Hala’s parents.
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the sun for eight hours and then physically searched. The presents
I had bought for my mother were taken, the excuse was security. I
often wondered what kind of security threat there was in a blouse,
a scarf and chocolates.

In 1996, I took the chance of a 3-day cruise from Cyprus which stayed
one full day in Haifa to visit my aunt in Nazareth. This time, I was
delayed several hours before being allowed off the boat - my place
of birth was the problem - and I only got two hours to see my aunt
and cousins.

Life was hard for me in the 1960s in Scotland, and although I made
some very good friends, I experienced a lot of racism, mainly because
no one shared our history. I was completely alone. One heard about
the Six Day war on the BBC, but we had no telephone and my only
contact with home was through the Red Cross. It was devastating.

There was little foreign travel, people were more interested in Sandie
Shaw and the Beatles than in a far away war. The first time they took notice was when Leila
Khaled hijacked a plane in 1969, that was when people had a wee giggle and said ‘Hala you
look like Leila Khaled’. That and when the first Intifada (1988) started and we saw youth with
stones confronting heavily armed troops.

There will never be peace without justice. Unfortunately Israel continues its oppressive and
illegal occupation flouting the rule of law with the total and unconditional support of the USA.
The media continues its unfair coverage; when Palestinians use arms and weapons they are
described as terrorists, Israeli soldiers are never murderers neither are American and British
soldiers in Iraq and Afghanistan. The United Nations is ineffective, most of the countries of
the Third World get told how to vote, otherwise they are threatened with aid and trade cuts.

When ordinary people in Scotland discuss with me and ask what is the solution, “surely there
ought to be a compromise?” I tell them that it is as if someone took your house, the garden and
garage, your passport and your job, leaving you the small shed at the back of your garden (with
no water either), and then asks you to compromise. And they do understand. Unfortunately
governments do not always reflect the will of the people. The Israeli public suffers like the
British and American public because they are misinformed, which makes peace further away
than ever.

*Badil would like to thank the Scottish Palestine Solidarity Campaign for their help.



Only One Place we Belong

Mary Shoufani - Athens, Greece

by Mary Shoufani

My name is Mary Rayya. I am from Al-Bassa village
in Akka District in northern Palestine. My village was
totally demolished and destroyed and renamed Shelomi
settlement. The whole population of my village, Christians
and Muslims, was expelled in 1948. They were allowed by
the Lebanese army to go to south Lebanon, to the town of
Al-Nabatiyyah. Then they were moved again further north
to Al-Damour. The Christian population of my village
was convinced to move further north to live among the
Christians in the northern suburb of Beirut. They lived in
tents for almost 2 years and then UNRWA intervened and
built a camp for them in Dbayeh (established in 1956). Our
camp had 4 streets with barracks built on both sides; it was
very crowded with houses stuck on top of one another.

UNRWA built us a school which was sponsored by the

Catholic Pope Missionary. It was a public primary school, later a high school was added. The
whole population of our camp was catholic with 5 Maronite christian families. Our camp was
built in that part of Beirut in the hope that we would integrate in the Lebanese community
or that was what the Lebanese government hoped for. But that did not happen. We lived in a
very closed community, we never had any relations with our Lebanese neighbors. We did not
feel welcomed by them, they looked upon us as primitive, uneducated and uncivilized. My
father used to say to us that “sooner or later they will kick us out from here.” We were never
allowed to join Lebanese schools and that is why UNRWA built us a school and when we
finished school we used to go abroad or to universities in the western part of Beirut, where
the majority were Muslims and more compassionate towards us. We used to work outside
the camp, within the nearby Lebanese community, as agricultural and construction workers.
The first generation of Palestinian university graduates, went to work in Arab countries such
as the United Arab Emirates, Libya, and Kuwait, which financially helped their families and
contributed to raising the standard of living of people in the camp.

In the camp, we had our own shops (small mini-markets), our own clinic (we had doctors
from UNRWA coming twice a week), our own nurses who took care of us until the doctors
would come, our own school, etc. So we lived our life the same way we lived it in Palestine;
we cooked the same food, we celebrated our Christmas, Easter and all the holidays the same
way as we did in our village. Life in the camp was however not exactly the same, because in
our villages in Palestine we owned our own land; in the camp, as in all of Lebanon, we were
not allowed to own.

We stayed in the camp until the civil war broke out. We were expelled by the right-wing Lebanese
Christian forces in February 1976. My family lost one brother in the civil war, he was killed by
the Phalanges. Our camp lost about 40 people, most of them between 17 and 35 years old. The
camp was partially destroyed during the civil war. Most of us had to go and live in the western
part of Beirut while few stayed in the camp. We joined the schools there and eventually went to
university. I studied in the American University of Beirut and my brothers went to the United

Al-Bassa was a thriving town of over
3,400 people when it was attacked
by Zionist forces on 14 May 1948,
the day Israel was declared a state.
A major coastal stop between Pales-
tine and Lebanon, the town boasted
several schools, two mosques and
two churches, one of which is still
standing. The village was completely
depopulated, and on its lands stand
the Israeli settlements of Kefar Ro’sh
ha-Nigra, Leman, Shelomi, Matzuva,
Betset, & Khanita, as well as an Is-
raeli military airport. The refugees of
Al-Bassa have created a website that
you can visit at
http://www.albassa.com
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Destruction of Dbayeh camp, Lebanon.
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States and Turkey; my parents sent them away because they
did not want to lose another son.

I studied business administration, although I never worked
in that field. I worked for 3 years as an executive secretary
in one of the oil companies in Abu Dhabi and then for a few
months as a teacher in Athens and then I had to quit to take
care of my children.

My family was forced to leave Lebanon and moved to
Canada in 2003 because my brothers, while holding refugee
travel documents, could not find work due to a law that
prohibits Palestinians from working in over 70 types of
professions. They also could not get visas to work in Arab
states. All of my family is separated and now lives in either
Canada or Arab countries. I moved to Greece with my
husband after his work transferred him there.

The Nakba immensely affected my whole family. We never felt that we belonged anywhere.
Even my brothers who are now Canadian citizens and work in Canada do not feel that they
belong to the Canadian community. We have great difficulty adjusting and integrating to any
society. I also do not feel that I belong to the Greek community, although in Greece I am not
afraid to say that I am Palestinian because the Greeks are very supportive and compassionate
towards Palestinians and we feel very welcome here. Yet, to me, it is not home. Palestine is my
home and there is where I should live and raise my children and theirs. In order to preserve our
identity, we raise our children and teach them that they are Palestinians and that they should
never think of themselves as anything other than that. This is the conflict we are living in;
our children live in European and Canadian communities, yet they should conform to our
Palestinian values, culture and traditions. It is a big problem for us to raise our children with
conflicting identities, but I think we have no other choice. They should know and maintain
the bond to their country.

I have recently been involved with the right of return committee and I hope to continue to
contribute to their work, but my problem is that I am living in a community that has little
interest in what is going on around us, especially regarding the Palestinian refugees. I think that
the Palestinians have suffered an immense injustice inflicted by the international community
and the United Nations, which is controlled by the United States. Since 1948 and due to the
total blind international support for Israel, not one resolution issued by the United Nations has
been implemented, while we see that other minor resolutions adopted by the United Nations
and not related to the Palestinian issue are easily implemented. That is why I think there will
be no solution to the Palestinian problem and no peace in Palestine and the region until there
is a change in the balance of power.

This could happen if the Palestinians reunite their forces, change their strategies and direct it
towards fighting Israel and revealing its nature: a discriminatory apartheid-like regime over
the Palestinian people in the 1967 occupied territory, 1948 Palestinian territories and in exile,
and impose on Israel and the whole world a new strategy of negotiations towards peace that
takes into consideration forming an independent state for Palestinians with Jerusalem as its
capital and the return of the refugees. Of course this will not happen in the short run simply
because the Zionists and their allies will not allow it unless Israel suffers a major defeat. This
will take time, I know that, but to us this is the only solution.



| Dream of a Free Palestine
Abu Rafik Masad - Santiago, Chile*

by Abu Rafik Masad

Like all young Palestinians who were born and grew up under
Zionist occupation, we have never known freedom, but this
value was and remains the most coveted, regardless of the cost
or sacrifice.

My family is from Al-Bakaa neighbourhood in Jerusalem. In
June 1948, my family was forced to flee under attacks from
Zionist forces. They took nothing, only the key. My family came
to Bethlehem where I was born and grew up. After high school,
I went to the University of Bethlehem, but I was always looking
for academic possibilities abroad to be free from the oppression,
school-closures, and the permanent and violent actions of the
occupying troops. I eventually had the opportunity to study in

Chile, I did not hesitate one second, sent my application and
was accepted at several universities.

I went to study Civil Engineering at the University of Santiago, which was a big challenge. It
was essential for me to demonstrate that the Palestinians are strong - the word failure is not in our
dictionary. So I finished my studies in record time; it was a very happy and pleasant experience.
Despite the fact that at the time Chile was under a cruel dictatorship, it did not compare to the
military occupation we lived in Palestine. The dictatorship was carried out by mercenaries and
special forces against the political opposition, while the occupation is against an entire people. The
occupation is a war against our people; it involves a number of unlawful policies and measures
carried out by the Israeli government and army to make people’s life impossible in order to force
them to leave - it aims to displace Palestinians and acquire their lands.

As a newcomer to Chile, I remember that one day while I was on the bicycle, I went in the
wrong direction and a policeman signalled to alert me, but I was filled with the trauma of the
occupation, and seeing the men in uniforms gave me a shock and without thinking, I accelerated,
hit the policeman and ran away. Soon after, I understood that in Chile, despite the dictatorship,
the uniformed men, in general are not necessarily enemies.

At the University erverybody called me “the
Palestinian”, I had the affection and respect
of all my classmates and teachers. We studied
very hard, but also enjoyed life. Despite the
pleasant stay, I felt it was my obligation — my
national duty - to return to Palestine.

In Palestine, I worked as an engineer for
four years, always with the pain of not being
able to live in freedom - when one gets used
to freedom, it is difficult to live without it.
I also worked in Jordan but for political
reasons | was forced to leave and return to

Abu Rafik's family, his wife, Mrs. Farha Masad (Um Rafik) and his two - Chile, where I succeded professionally.
sons, Rafik and Sebastian.

Jaffa Street, Jerusalem, 1935.
(©lsraeli Press Office)

Jerusalem (continued from page
50) Faced with a poorly trained Arab
resistance force, armed mostly with
antiquated weapons, the Zionists
launches Operation Nachshon on 6 April
1948 as the part of Plan Dalet aiming
to raze and depopulate all Palestinian
villages between Jerusalem and the
coast to the west. The Deir Yassin
Massacre (see page 44) was the Irgun
and Stern contribution to this operation.
By 30 April 1948, the Haganah launched
its concerted attacks on the western
neighborhoods of the holy city after
two weeks of heavy artillery bombing.
By 2 May, the Qatamon neighborhood
was taken and later looted. Starting on
May 13, Operation Kilshon (pitchfork)
involved the handing over of Jerusalem
neighborhoods by the British to the
Zionist military, who watched David Ben
Gurion declare ‘the establishment of the
Jewish state in Palestine, to be called
Israel” the next day. By May 27, the
Israeli forces had taken everything to the
west of the Old City.

All of the Palestinian land and property
now occupied by Israel was confiscated
as Absentee Property and by late May
Jewish settlers had begun to take over
the houses of the approximately 23,000
Palestinian refugees from the city. Those
Arab Palestinians who were able to re-
main were concentrated in the Bagaa
neighborhood surrounded by barbed
wire fence. [Based on Nathan Krystall,
“The Fall of the New City 1947-1950"
in Salim Tamari (ed.), Jerusalem 1948:
The Arab Neighborhoods and their Fate
in the War, Jerusalem & Bethlehem:
Institute of Jersusalem Studies & Badil
Resource Center, 2002 (2™ ed.)]
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Aerial view of Al-Bakaa neighborhood in Jerusalem (source: palestineremembered.com).

I think my successes are primarily due to our character — steadfast, honest and tenacious - and
our culture of survival; values that we have acquired and developed throughout our struggle for
freedom.

I dream of returning to my house in Jerusalem — Palestine - to live in safety, dignity and freedom
like other peoples of the world and to sleep on our land, under the shade of an almond tree.
This is the best gift life could give me. I dream of a free and sovereign Palestine where our
people can live in harmony, tolerance, respect and true democracy. For me, the best solution

Abu Rafik Masad. to this conflict and the refugee issue is the one state solution; a democratic state for all peoples
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A Family Twice Expelled

Walid and Arjan El Fassed — Vlaardingen, The Netherlands

By Arjan El Fassed*

On 11 november 1963 an old airplane landed on Schiphol
Airport in Amsterdam. On board the plane that arrived
from Amman were 65 young Palestinians from Nablus. The
young men were contracted by Romi, a Dutch company
specialised in refining vegetable oils. Most of the men
were working at The Jordan Vegetable Oil Industries in
Nablus. With the help of Dutch experts the company made
a restart and in order to educate the young workers, they
would work in the Netherlands for two years and then go
back to Palestine. The Netherlands was experiencing a
shortage of workers at the time. Two years later, in a letter
to the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs asking permission
to extend their work permits, the CEO of Romi said that
the company would go bankrupt if the Palestinians would
not be allowed to stay for another two years. In 1965 their
contract was extended for another two years until November 1967.

Three months after the 1967 War, Israel conducted a census in the West Bank, East Jerusalem
and the Gaza Strip. Only Palestinians registered in the census were considered by the Israeli
authorities to be legal residents of the occupied territory. My father, born in Wadi Al-Joz in
Jerusalem, was one of the 60,000 West Bank Palestinians who were abroad at the time of the
War and so were not included in the census.

Um Naji, my grandmother from my mother’s side, is from Ramleh. Um Naji and her family
had to leave Ramleh in July 1948. It is cool on the veranda of the family home in Nablus
where she told me this story, and the view is breathtaking. They had to leave everything. Of the
seventeen thousand Palestinians that lived in Ramleh at that time, only four hundred managed
to stay. Just before the 1948 War, one-fifth of the total urban population lived in Ramleh and
A-Lydd. ‘It is the area where we landed. Ben Gurion airport is built on top’.

On July 12, Yitzhak Rabin, later a Prime Minister of Israel and Nobel Peace Prize recipient, gave
the order that the people of Lydda had to be driven in the direction of Beit Nabala. He issued a
similar order for Ramleh. The city had been earlier hit in a bomb attack on a vegetable market
in February 1948. Two days after the order, armed forces entered the city. My grandmother
told me that they went from door to door, arresting people and plundering the town. They had
to leave. They walked for hours. Refugees were harassed by soldiers. They had to leave their
belongings. Properties were stolen and people were chased off their land. Some died on their
way out. Um Naji’s family first went to Jerusalem and left Jerusalem in 1949 to Jordan and
Syria. Only her and her eldest son stayed in Jerusalem.

“I'was in the Netherlands when the Israeli army invaded Nablus in June 1967, says my father.
“I'was worried about my parents and my sisters. I tried to find out about their well-being through
the Red Cross.” In the Netherlands there was no lack of support for Israel. At the office where
my mother used to work, employees were collecting donations for Israel. In various places
in the Netherlands rallies were organized to express Dutch support for Israel during the war.

Al-Ramleh: A Palestinian Arab
gathering in Al-Ramleh, before being
forcibly displaced in 1948 (source:
palestineremembered.com)

Ramleh. A twin city of Al-Lydd, the two
cities comprised 20% of Palestine’s
urban population before the Nakba.
The commander in charge of Operation
Dani, which ethnically cleansed the
twin cities, was Yitzhak Rabin, later
a Prime Minister of Israel and Nobel
Peace Prize recipient. At 1:30pm on
July 12, 1948 he commanded his
brigade: “1. The inhabitants of Lydda
must be expelled quickly without
attention to age. They should be
directed towards Beit Nabala. Yiftah
[Brigade headquarters] must determine
the method and inform [Operation]
Dani HQ and the 8th Brigade.
2. Implement immediately.” Soon after
the city's occupation, the Zionists made
an agreement with its inhabitants that
they could stay. But soon after, the
Zionists reneged on their promise
and detained over 3,000 men in a
concentration camp, and on the same
day started looting the city. On July
14th, 1948, the city’s inhabitants were
ethnically cleansed out of the city.
From the 17,000 Palestinians who
used to call al-Ramla home, 400 were
allwed to stay. Israel has kept the city
by the same name, adding colonies at
Ahismakh in the north east, Matsliah
in the south, and Yad Rambam in the
southeast.
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“To avoid discussions on the conflict, I used to say that [
was from Jordan” admitted my father. “Also at the factory
in Vilaardingen we didn 't discuss politics with our fellow
workers. I tried to follow the news on an old radio.”

On the first day of the 1967 War, my father’s oldest sister
was in labor with her firstborn. She was in a hospital in
Jerusalem. Her mother, her husband and his mother were
present. On Monday morning, June 5, 1967, at half past
five, her daughter was born. One hour later, while Israeli
jets were bombing the Egyptian airstrips, they left the
hospital. Outside, sirens could be heard. My uncle drove his
Volkswagen Beattle as fast as he could to Ramallah, where
Walid's family; his mother, sisters they spent the rest of the day and night in the basement of
and him. their home. On the second day of the War they drove to Nablus. They spent the night with my
aunt, who had just given birth to her third child. She was hiding with her children in a safe
room. The shops were closed and a number of people were killed in Nablus due to various
bombardments. A number of people had fled the city. They followed the route the Jordanian
army took when it withdrew. Also a number of refugees that had arrived in Nablus in 1948
left the city to Jordan. Some of them were killed on the road.

The next day, June 7, the day the Israeli army invaded Nablus, my aunt, her husband and their
baby left the city with my grandmother, back to Ramallah. The war was still going on. There was
shooting and no one knew where it was safe. On their way to Ramallah they discovered that the
road was closed. Ramallah was being hit. My uncle tried to drive back to Nablus but they didn’t
manage to enter the town. The Israeli army had closed all roads towards the city. They decided to
make their way to the Jordan Valley and just after Israeli jets bombed the bridge over the Jordan
river they managed to cross it. Through Salt they arrived in Amman where they were safe. They
spent two weeks with one of the brothers of my grandmother, who had lived in Amman after his

Walid, his sister and mother in

Nablus.“l miss my family, my family fled Jerusalem in 1949. My grandmother wanted to return to Nablus. It was dangerous but
social life, the vegetable market not impossible. Together with a group of other refugees they crossed the river by foot. Shots were
in the Kasba in Nablus and family K . . . . X

barbecues on Fridays the most.” fired from the other side. My uncle, his wife and their baby crossed the river back to Palestine

a couple of days later and drove in the direction of Tubas. They first went to Nablus and later to
Ramallah. Since then my family has stayed in Palestine. Other family members live scattered
across the region in Lebanon, Syria and Jordan. A year after the war, my father was granted Dutch
citizenship. Since that time he has only been able to visit his hometown Nablus as a tourist, only
allowed to stay there, if he is lucky, for three months, the length of a visitor’s visa.

* Arjan El Fassed is cofounder of The Electronic Intifada and the author of the forthcoming book ‘Niet
iedereen kan stenen gooien’ [Not just everyone is good at throwing stones: A Dutch Palestinian in search
of his roots and identity] (Uitgeverij Nieuwland, 2008).

Not just everyone is good at throwing stones:
A Dutch Palestinian in search of his roots and identity

Raised in the Netherlands, Arjan El Fassed, son of a Palestinian father and a Dutch mother, searched his family history in
Palestine. He saw powerlessness and corruption on the Palestinian side and oppression from the Israeli side.

By means of events within his family over several generations, the history of the Palestinian people is told in a personal
and convincing manner. ‘Not just everyone is good at throwing stones’ is a fascinating tale of a search to roots, identity
and legitimacy.

Website in Dutch: http:/www.nietiedereenkanstenengooien.n|
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We Loved the Land and the Land Loved Us

Mohammad Manasra - Vaxj6, Sweden

by Hazem Jamjoum

“The Palestinian peasant is an educated peasant.”

Mohammad’s father’s words accompany the constant
ringing in his ears that started when he was injured by a
car bomb meant to kill him on the streets of Baghdad. “We
were farmers, we knew the land, we loved the land and
the land loved us.” It was this love of the land that led the
villagers of ‘Ayn Ghazal, on the slopes of Mount Carmel
to fiercely resist the Zionist onslaught in 1948. Despite
the signinficant imbalance in the level of training and
armament that clearly favored the Zaionist forces fighting
to clear the area of its indigenous inhabitants, the defenders
of ‘Ayn Ghazal, Ijzim and Jaba’ relentlessly fought to keep
their families alive and on their land. “The Zionists called
our three villages the ‘dirty triangle’ because they couldn’t
defeat us, even though they were heavily armed with modern guns and artillery and planes
while every three of the Palestinian resistance fighters had to share a rifle!”

Mohammad’s father was one of these rifle-sharing fighters. Most of his direct family had been
killed in the 1930s and 40s because of their involvement in the Arab Revolt against Zionist
colonization and British occupation, and his shoulders bore the responsibility of continuing
the family line. He fought nonetheless, and when the Zionists finally entered the village,
he was one of the few who had stayed despite the heavy aerial and artillery bombardment.
He was arrested and taken to a prison camp where he spent a year before his release and
expulsion. Meanwhile, his wife and children had been evacuated with the Iraqi army and the
Red Cross to the southern Iraqi city of Basra, where he would follow in 1949.

“Those early years in Iraq were horrible.” Mohammad, born in 1955 in Baghdad recalls these
events as if they were his own memories. “We were put in an army barracks with fifteen other
families with nothing but a piece of cloth separating each family; the barracks was surrounded
by barbed wire fence, and the food was army rations, lentil soup in the morning, rice and sauce
in the afternoon, and kubab for dinner. Imagine, peasants who were used to tilling their land
and eating from it reduced to this.” The Iraqi government had decided that the Palestinians
were guests in Iraq, and refused UNRWA presence in the country, committing to take care
of any and all humanitarian functions that the UN agency was supposed to fulfill.

The family moved to Baghdad where the growing Palestinian refugee community developed
its consciousness of imparting the meaning of being a Palestinian refugee to the younger
generation, the generation into which Mohammad was born. The Free-Officers revolution
toppled the Iraqi monarchy on 14 July 1958, and the new President of Iraq, Abdul-Karim
Qasim created a Palestinian battalion called the Al-Qadisiya Brigade, which was meant to
grow into an army that would liberate Palestine. Many of Mohammad’s family members
joined, and later moved on to join the Palestinian revolution in Jordan and Lebanon. “My
family and I have always supported anything that could lead to the liberation of Palestine,
whether morally, financially or with our own bodies.”

‘Ayn Ghazzal. Situated on the higher
slopes of Haifa’s Mount Carmel near
the main road between Haifa and Jaf-
fa, ‘Ayn Ghazzal's 2,500 inhabitants
lived a good life split between agri-
culture and working in nearby Haifa.
It was one of the three villages, with
Jaba’ and ljzim, that formed a triangle
on Mount Ca